

This publication was downloaded from the National Aging and Disability Transportation Center's website (www.nadtc.org). It was developed by Easter Seals Project ACTION, a technical assistance center operated by Easter Seals, Inc. through a cooperative agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration.







Accessible Community Transportation In Our Nation

WWW.PROJECTACTION.ORG



Assessing the Intersection between Health and Transportation Literature Review

Funded by the Federal Transit Administration Cooperative Agreements Easter Seals Project ACTION & the National Center on Senior Transportation in partnership with the American Medical Association & LogistiCare











Assessing the Intersection between Health and Transportation Literature Review

Funded by the Federal Transit Administration Cooperative Agreements
Easter Seals Project ACTION & the National Center on Senior Transportation
in partnership with the American Medical Association & LogistiCare

Prepared by:

Thomas Prohaska¹

Matthew Smith²

Amy Eisenstein¹

Susan Hughes¹

David Ragland³

Kara MacLeod³

William Satariano³

Firas Dabbous¹

- 1 University of Illinois at Chicago
- 2 Texas A & M University/University of Georgia
- 3 University of California Berkeley

Easter Seals Project ACTION is funded through a cooperative agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of Easter Seals Project ACTION in the interest of information exchange. Neither Easter Seals nor the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration assumes liability for its contents or use thereof.

The National Center on Senior Transportation is funded through a cooperative agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration with guidance from the U.S. Administration on Aging. NCST is administered by Easter Seals, Inc. in partnership with the National Association of Area Agencies on Aging (n4a).

July 2012













Table of Contents

Abstract
Literature Review
Findings
Themes
Specific Content Areas
Accompaniment/Caregiver Transportation
Missed Appointments/Underutilization 10
Costs
Rural Transportation, Rural/Urban Contrasts
Mental Health/Mental Illness
Health Behaviors
Ethnicity/Race Differences
Other Related Transportation
Non Relevant
References









Abstract

This report summarizes activities the research team completed to conduct the literature review as part of the project Assessing the Intersection between Health and Transportation, funded by The Federal Transit Administration cooperative agreements, Easter Seals Project ACTION in partnership with the National Center for Senior Transportation, and with in-kind contributions from LogistiCare and the American Medical Association. Findings reported here are based on a Phase 2 conduct of a literature review/summary of the literature on aging, health and transportation. The purpose of the review was to identify what can be learned about the association between people with disabilities of all ages—with a particular focus on older adults who acquire functional changes that impact mobility. We report their need and use of transportation services in the context of health through an examination of the literature. The findings are summarized and recommendations for future research and policy are offered.

Easter Seals' ESPA program and Easter Seals and the National Association of Area Agencies on Aging's (n4a) NCST program are training and technical assistance centers that support the expansion of accessible transportation for people with disabilities of all ages and increasing transportation options for older adults. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. Neither Easter Seals, n4a nor the U.S. Department of Transportation, FTA, assumes liability for its content or use thereof.

Literature Review

Methods

As in Phase 1, the purpose of this literature review was to identify what is currently known about issues encountered by older adults with respect to transportation (e.g., sources of transportation, utilization patterns, resources, barriers). The intent of the literature review in Phase 1 was to address two major questions:

- 1. What types of clients/patients use what types and levels of transportation by age?
- 2. What are the documented benefits of access and consequences of non-access, to transportation services for the use of non-emergency medical transportation (NEMT) among older adults?

The Phase 1 preliminary review provided context and insight into the findings generated from the analysis of the LogistiCare NEMT data files, and a preliminary description on the status of knowledge about particular topics. The preliminary literature review findings also provided justification for a more comprehensive review and in-depth abstracting and annotating process for Phase 2.

The purposes of the more extensive Phase 2 review were to: (1) provide an overview of the literature on the association between transportation and health among older adults in community setting (2) identify major themes and gaps in the existing literature, (3) generate review-driven manuscripts to describe the status of knowledge about particular topics, and (4) provide a summary of the gaps, strengths and weaknesses in

Accessible Community Transportation In Our Nation





the literature and suggest directions for future research and make policy recommendations based on the findings.

The Phase 2 search focused on relevant journal articles, books, government reports, and grey literature published between **June 30, 1971 and June 30, 2011**. A variety of search terms were used within 11 distinct databases (e.g., Medline PubMed, WorldCat, Transport Database, Web of Science, Transportation Research Board, CINAHL). After identifying 265 pieces of literature pertaining to transportation use among older adults, a rubric was created to categorize/inventory the results. The information was captured in an annotation rubric which includes: (1) source of literature (journal article, book chapter, report, white paper, website, newsprint, etc.); (2) type of literature (literature review, commentary, secondary data analysis, primary quantitative, primary qualitative, etc.); (3) sample size (number of people in the study or analysis); (4) target population (sex, race/ethnicity, percent rural population, age, disability status, etc.); and (5) primary outcomes measured (the focal measure or dependent variable of the study). Efforts include further categorizing the literature within the rubric to specific content areas for in-depth abstracting. Based on Phase 1 review and findings from the analyses of the LogistiCare data, four content area topics were identified and was coded as to whether the content area was addressed in each document: The content themes included:

- 1. Cost of services (per ride, financial consequences to providers)
- 2. Diabetes (trips related to dialysis treatment)
- 3. Level of accompaniment (provide transportation, but also accompany on transportation)
- 4. Missed appointments...Consequences of missed visits
- 5. Urban/rural patterns in transportation use/need
- 6. Use/need of transportation by demographic groups(e.g., age, ethnicity, gender)

A revised set of themes emerged once the review was completed. We expanded the literature to address broader health outcomes than just those associated with access to non-emergency medical care. Studies related to transportation access to resources providing social interaction and promoting healthy lifestyles (e.g., access to healthy nutrition options, physical activity) were included. We also reviewed manuscripts pertaining to the burden and consequences by family members as a result of providing transportation to their older family members. Some



themes proved to be far less prevalent than indicated once the review was conducted. This was particularly true for the theme of diabetes and dialysis. The number of documents on this theme proved to be far less than indicated in the search strategy. In most cases, diabetes and dialysis was noted but was not the major focus of the manuscript or diabetes was a subtopic within a larger theme. Also, in several documents the sample included a broad age range rather than just older adults. This literature was still included for review when the findings were relevant to older adults or when a sufficient proportion of the population included older adults. In such cases, we note the characteristics of the sample.

Documents were excluded in the final review if they were based in another country or region of the world where relevance to the US was questionable (e.g., China, Africa, Korea, South Pacific). We also do not review books, data sets and web sites or when the document refer to transportation tangentially or when the documents were unavailable or available at cost. Finally, when a document review addresses two or more themes, the review was included under the primary theme addressed. The reference section includes all documents identified including those excluded in the final review.

Findings

A total of 263 documents pertaining to transportation, health and aging were identified (Table 1). As can be seen from the table, the majority of the literature identified was journal articles (both peer-reviewed and non-peer reviewed articles). Another major source was books and book chapters pertaining to transportation. Almost 5% of the documents were government publications that included national, state and local transportation services relevant information, often based on a survey and findings or report and recommendations for addressing the needs and barriers to transportation services. Websites devoted to transportation are also identified and included as references. The emphasis of this review was on literature providing documentation on the association between transportation and health among older adults in the community. While this was a priority, qualitative and case studies are also included. Literature in which opinions from key informants and policy recommendation are presented were also included in the review if they provided insight on the impact of transportation on health among older adult. Finally, a proportion of the literature generated in the search was also excluded after determining that none of the information provided was relevant to the purpose of the review.

The literature were annotated by the major foci proposed in phase 1 (e.g. cost, missed appointments, etc.) and major themes identified in the findings from LogistiCare data. As can be seen in Table 1, the number and proportion of documents vary considerably by type of document with journal articles being the primary document form (81.7%). Also, the frequency of some of the specific content themes targeted for review was minimal such as transportation cost, level of accompaniment, and missed appointments. While the number of documents pertaining to age appears low, information by age group in many of these documents was not a major focus of the study/document. Finally, while the number of documents related to diabetes appears to be impressive, the actual numbers with a primary focus on diabetes was relatively low.



Table 1

Literature Pertaining to Non-Emergency Transportation Services (n=263)				
	n	%		
Source of Literature				
Book (or book section)	15	5.7%		
Computerized Data (websites)	7	2.7%		
Government Publication	13	4.9%		
Journal Article	215	81.7%		
Other	13	4.9%		
Content Focus of Literature*				
Cost Per Ride	6	2.3%		
Diabetes (chronic condition or treatments)	52	19.8%		
Level of Accompainment	8	3.0%		
Missed Appointments	10	3.8%		
Rurality	38	14.4%		
Age	8	3.0%		
Ethnicity	38	14.4%		

Themes

The literature review and summary of key articles provide an opportunity to reconsider *the interaction between health and transportation* on older adults. The research has revealed the magnitude and complexity between health and wellness and transportation. Health is more than the physical health and medical consequences of older adults not receiving needed NEMT. A lack of access to appropriate transportation has consequences on the health and well-being on the older adult, restricts opportunity for engaging in health behaviors and access to social services, restricts social engagement and places considerable burden on caregivers and family members on their effort to provide transportation.

The studies reported within also provide numerous creative examples of communities and agencies experimenting with connecting the older adult to timely and appropriate resources that promote successful aging. Programs are presented demonstrating the impact of training drivers on basic safety, identification of possible mental health issues and making referral. Others have come to understand transportation and health in a broader context, one in which understands that on occasion, it is more feasible to bring health care services to the individual and transportation may also include trips to having prescriptions filled and to locations promoting healthy lifestyles such as exercise, proper nutrition and health promotion.



The collection of articles also begins to identify patterns and factors associated with the use of transportation. While many studies show (either directly or indirectly) that a lack of transportation is a major contributor to underutilization, the articles suggest that this is more common for "apparently" less essential health care (follow-up, health screening) than more serious and essential health issues (cancer treatment). While the majority of older adults in the community are not in need of alternative transportation services, there is significant need for subgroups of older adults. Comparison across studies suggest a demographic profile of those most in need including; older, no driver in house hold, frail, and financially in need and functionally disadvantaged.

The majority of studies on cost and non-emergency medical transportation have focused on the perception of cost of the transportation limiting use of health care services and cost in terms of underutilization of services. Few studies have examined whether the cost of transportation actually influences obtaining prescribed medication among older adults.

The literature is rich in terms of identifying geographic, ethnic and cultural factors that will require attention when developing transportation resources for older adults. The isolation that often comes with a lack of mobility among older adults in general appears to be emphasized among ethnic minority groups, especially when language and cultural norms are considered. While this literature is primarily qualitative, the findings suggest that providing transportation resources will not be sufficient unless the attitudes and beliefs about transportation and language and cultural barriers are addressed. The interaction between health and transportation also present unique challenges that extend beyond distance to needed health services. Unique challenge not commonly experienced in urban setting includes insufficient street identification, unpaved and impassable roads and the closing of a hospital. Combined, these studies strongly suggest that transportation systems promotion and protecting the health of older adults must be tailored to the unique geographical and ethnic and cultural factors in the targeted settings and populations.

Finally, the very nature of the health problem and health and social resource needs of the older adult have implications on the interaction between health and transportation. Mental health is either a predictor for the need for transportation or an outcome or consequence of not having access to transportation. Additionally, findings from qualitative studies have suggested that mental health is compromised when older adults do not have accesses to community settings that promote social engagement. While there is an emerging literature on key health topics such as mental health and preventive services, there were relatively few studies focusing on critical health issues more commonly experienced by older adults such as dialysis treatment and persons with Alzheimer's Disease, that often require special transportation services.

Specific Content Areas

The individual articles reviewed and are reported below. Each review focused on only the content relevant to transportation, health and aging. Often the primary focus of the study was not transportation. The review is organized by the major content areas: A.) accompaniment/ caregiver transportation, B) missed appointments/ underutilization, C.) cost, D.) rural transportation rural/ urban contrasts, E.) mental health



mental illness F.) health behaviors and, G) ethnic/race differences. Studies that address more than one content area were included in the primary content area addressed in the study. Also studies reviewed and determined to not be relevant were included with a brief comment and reason for exclusion.

Accompaniment/Caregiver Transportation

#29 Whitier S, Scharlach AE, Dal Santo (2005) Availability of caregiver support services: Implications for implementation of the national family caregiver support program.

This study conducted a survey of Area Agencies on Aging (AAA) service providers on their perceptions of the scope of resources and service gaps in Title IIIE caregiver services. In the area of access, the greatest gap noted was transportation with 75% of the providers identifying this as a major gap. An important additional access gap noted was a rural community service with over half reporting this as a service gap. "The lack of available transportation serves as a barrier to accessing services both for themselves as well as for those for whom they are providing care. This is especially a problem in suburban and rural areas, where services may be far apart and public transportation limited."

#139 Hanson R, Rana E (2010) Unveiling Muslim voices aging parents with disabilities and their adult children and family caregivers in the United States

An important yet often overlooked element in transportation for older adults is the role and importance of the person accompanying the rider to the medical encounter. This qualitative case study provides insight into sensitive cultural factors that may influence use of transportation by culturally diverse groups of older riders. In this case, the authors focus on older Muslim immigrants with chronic illnesses and disability and the cultural influences on their role as caregivers. This study reports several cases in which family caregiver roles influence the use of health services. Although the case studies only briefly discussed transportation accompaniment, it was noted that family caregivers were more likely to accompany a family member with a disability to medical clinic visits and participate in the health provider patient interaction. Additionally Muslim seniors are much less likely to participate in some forms of health care such as rehabilitation. They are also more likely to require that the health professional be the same gender as the older adult. There are several implications of this in terms of transportation. It is very likely that older Muslims, if they do use medical transportation services, they may extend the same gender (and religion) requirement of the person providing the transportation. The older user of transportation may be accompanied on the medical visit even if no caregiver assistance is apparently needed. This is an example of a larger concern about how transportation for medical care could better accommodate the ever increasing diversity among older riders.

#159 Leduc N, Tannenbaum TN, Bergman H, Champagne F, Clarfield AM, Kogen S (1998). Compliance of frail elderly with health services prescribed at discharge from an acute-care geriatric ward.

In one of the better designed studies that examine the role of availability of family for transportation to medical care services, Leduc and colleagues (1998) examine the contributions of available family



transportation on compliance with recommended medical visits. Recruitment of 211 older patients from an acute care geriatrics ward who were prescribed follow-up services were followed over a 6-week period to determine compliance with recommended medical visits. Actual and intended compliance was assessed as well as extensive demographic, health status, financial barriers. Perceived benefits of the prescribed services and perceived access to transportation and assistance from family in transportation were use as predictors of compliance. Compliance or "missed appointments" depended on the type of follow-up services recommended. As might be expected, compliance to medical appointments was highest for on occasions where the health care provider came to the home (geriatric assessment home visit 98%; homemaker/nurse care 80%). However, compliance with medical care visits requiring transportation to the facility were low for clinic (65%) and family physician visits (39%). What is of particular interest was that expressed intention to comply with the medical visit and financial barriers were not significantly associated with medical appointment compliance. However, patients who perceived availability of transportation and a person to accompany them were significantly more likely to comply with recommendations for medical care followup. These findings suggest that a successful strategy for minimizing missed appointments should include an assessment of available transportation and availability of a person to accompany the older patient to the medical encounter. The findings also suggest that acute care discharge may be an ideal point of entry to assessing the need for and arranging non-emergency medical transportation.

#162 Leutz W, Capitman J (2008). Met needs, unmet needs, and satisfaction among social HMO members.

In one of the few studies that have examined medical transportation and non-medical transportation, older adults participating in social health maintenance organizations (SHMOs) were surveyed as to their need, unmet need and satisfaction with home and community-based services from their SHMO. A total of 800 older adult participants from four SHMOs were surveyed about help needed, informal assistance received and unmet need for 11 types of assistance (e.g., personal household maintenance, medical transportation, non-medical transportation, respite, supplies and equipment, medication management). Focusing on the transportation items, 80% of the older adults noted that they would have a problem in this area if they did not receive help from someone (67% in response to the need for non-medical transportation service). Need is considerably reduced when informal assistance is considered. Among those reporting availability of informal care assistance, less than 20% of the SHMO older adults wanted additional help with non-medical transportation while a third (33%) with informal care assistance still wanted assistance with medical transportation. These percentages increase considerably when the older adult has no informal care (48% and 77% respectively for non-medical transportation and medical transportation respectively). Finally, analyses were conducted to determine predictors of satisfaction by older SHMO participant with their health care plan. One significant finding was that participants were less satisfied if they reported inadequate help with medical transportation. These findings provide insight into the medical and non-medical transportation resources provided by family and friends as well as the critical need for nonemergency medical transportation needs among older adults with no informal care assistance.



#194 Nasvadi G, Wister A. (2006). Informal social support and use of a specialized transportation system by chronically ill older adults.

A study from British Columbia examined the factors associated with the decision to use a handicap-specialized service (Handy Dart). The authors provide evidence that it is disability and need for informal care assistance family, rather than age of the older adult or number of comorbid illnesses that predict use of transportation services. While the generalizability of the study is limited, it suggests that use of transportation services are common for specific health issues such as arthritis and is more common in situations where family provide assistance to the older adult. The findings add to the literature on the role of informal support and family in the context of transportation.

#195 Neary MA (1993). Community services in the 1990s: Are they meeting the needs of caregivers?

Given the role of the care giver in facilitating the use of community based services for frail older adults, it is of value to understand the level of awareness of services as well as inquiry, use and satisfaction with services. Neary (1993) conducted a retrospective survey of 168 primary caregivers on their awareness, inquiry, use, and satisfaction of community based service prior to the care recipient's transition to a nursing home facility. The caregivers were presented with a list of 15 community services for older adults including assistive services (transportation, housekeeping and home delivered meals) and intensive care services (nursing and personal care assistance, respite care). There are several findings pertaining to transportation. Awareness of transportation services was high among the caregivers (83%). However, less than half of the caregiver who were aware of available transportation inquired into the service and 74% of caregivers who inquired about transportation actually used the service for their care recipient prior to nursing home placement. This suggests that it is not a lack of awareness of transportation service among caregivers that account for the low percent of eligible clients actually using the service found but rather a self-selection based on other factors. Also, when transportation services were used, it was for 2 hours per week on average and for mean duration of 26 months. The two-year mean use of transportation services was one of the most lengthy community based services used by caregivers. The mean duration of 26 months of use prior to nursing home placement is in line with finding of a 30% to 40% turnover in non-emergency medical care transportation use found in the LogistiCare data. These findings suggest two research questions; 1.) Is nursing home placement a major factor associated with disenrollment in medical transportation services and is it associated with delay in nursing home placement? 2.) If lack of awareness of transportation services on the part of the caregiver is not a major cause for the low user/eligibility rate in transportation, what are the reasons for transportation use?

#236 Taylor BD, Tripodes S (2001) The effects of driving cessation on the elderly with dementia and their caregivers

Understanding the evolution of transportation needs among older adults is critical for estimating and predicting the need for alternative community-based transportation services and anticipating and targeting those older adults most in need for non-emergency medical transportation. This study examines change



in mobility status among older adults who lost driving privileges due to Alzheimer's disease or related dementia. A survey was conducted with 335 caregivers of older persons who had their license revoked due to dementia (based on California DMV records). Several findings are relevant to non-emergency medical care and accompaniment. As might be expected, the loss of driving privileges resulted in increased dependence on informal caregivers for their transportation needs. There was no apparent increase in walking or use of mass transit. When asked how the former driver got to medical appointments before and after license revocation, caregivers reported an increase dependence on others for transportation primarily spouses (61%) and children (15%). Difficulties in obtaining transportation for medical trips was greater when there were no other licensed drivers in the household and when the older adult was younger and had dementia for one year or less. The authors noted that some providers of informal medical care transportation reported frequent missed work or that they stopped working in order to care for and chauffer these individuals. These findings have several implications for the true cost of transportation for older adults. The transition in transportation services follows a pattern similar to the transition in the need for physical assistance among older adults with increasing disability in performing activities of daily living (ADLs). That is, an informal caregiver will assume the role of caring for the transportation needs of the frail older adult and this role is usually assumed by a family member. Providing transportation services by informal caregivers can result in increased caregiver burden in terms of lost days of employment or lost employment. Clearly, additional research is needed on determining the extent of burden on caregivers providing transportation for their older relative.

#243 Torrez DJ (1998). Health and social service utilization patterns of Mexican American older adults

This study provides further evidence that provision of transportation to older adults can present difficulties and economic hardship on family members. Based on qualitative interviews with 46 Mexican American older adults in rural Texas, Torrez (1998) found considerable need for transportation services for health and social services. Family members who provide transportation services experience considerable economic consequences and time constraints. This study also emphasized that the need for transportation extend beyond trips to medical appointments. A respondent reported that she would not be able to "pick up my medicines (at the drugstore" if transportation were not provided. The lack of transportation for social services was also reported. These findings on the importance of transportation services for social services and the level of family burden in providing transportation for older family members are in agreement with other qualitative studies. The findings suggest a need to broaden alternative transportation options beyond traditional medical care services. There is also a need to better quantify the economic and stress burden of family members providing transportation to their older family member.

Missed Appointments/Underutilization

#32 Okoro CA, Strine TW, Young SL, Balluz LS, Mokdad AH, (2005). Access to health care among older adults and receipt of preventive services. Results from the Behavioral Risk factor Surveillance System

Quality of health care for older adults includes access to clinical preventive services. The level of access to



specific preventive services and the barriers to access was examined in a cross-sectional study that used 2002 data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) among individuals age 65+. The study provides a national estimate of older adults who report receipt of clinical preventive services and the barriers among those who report difficulty getting needed medical care in the past 12 months. A majority (98%) of participants report being able to obtain needed medical care. Those who could not get needed medical care were more likely to report poor health, female, Black non-Hispanic, and report less than high school education. The major barriers to obtaining needed preventive health services were cost (27%), and too long to wait for an available appointment (20%). Transportation as a barrier was reported by 9% of the respondents and was significantly more prevalent among women than men (11% vs. 6% respectively). The prevalence of transportation as a barrier to needed medical care is based on a survey of the general population of older adults and the rates are likely to be higher among the population of eligible disadvantaged older adults targeted for transportation services.

#59 Blazer DG, Landerman LR, Fillenbaum G, Horner R (1995). Health service access and use among older adults in North Carolina: Urban vs. rural residents

This study uses the baseline wave of the Duke Established Populations for the Epidemiologic Studies of the Elderly (age 65+) on delay of needed medical care. A stratified random sample of 4,162 residents of one urban and four rural counties in North Carolina was conducted focusing on urban rural differences in health service use among older adults. This is one of the few studies that uses a multivariate approach on two key areas relevant to non-emergency-medical care; delay of care due to cost and delay of care due to transportation difficulties. Those who delayed medical care were asked whether they did so due to: cost, distance or transportation, or because they were "unsure where to go for help". At the bivariate level, compared to urban elderly, older adults in rural counties were more likely to put off care due to costs (24.9% vs. 4.3%) and due to transportation difficulties (5.8% vs. 9.8%). Cost was the leading reason for delaying medical care. Findings on the factors associated with putting off care due to transportation difficulties found that urban rural difference in transportation difficulties were no longer significant once demographic and health characteristics of the older respondents were controlled. The study identifies significant person level factors to transportation difficulties including Black (vs. non Black), non-married, non-employed and poor self-rating of health.

#88 Barrio C, Palinkas LA, Yamada A, Fuentes et al. (2008). Unmet needs for mental health services for Latino older adults: Perspectives from consumers, family members advocates, and service providers.

The reasons for missed appointment and underutilization may differ by ethnicity and cultural norms of older adults, particularly for treatment of mental health issues. This was suggested in a qualitative study by Barrio and colleagues (2008) in which practitioners, caregivers and older consumers of mental health services participated in semi-structured interviews and focus groups focusing on the use, need and unmet need for mental health services among older Latino adults in San Diego County. The findings were organized under two general themes, mental health services and services associated with the greater risk for mental health problems or reduced the effectiveness of mental health services. There was a consensus by all three



stakeholder groups that language and cultural barriers contributed to underutilization and unmet need for mental health services. For example, caregivers reported reluctance to use mental health services primarily due to the fear of being labeled mentally ill. Transportation was cited as a contributing factor affecting access to services. There was concern that Latino older adults have difficulty obtaining reliable, appropriate, and affordable transportation to mental health services. Transportation was cited as a contributing factor affecting access to services. Although this is a qualitative study with older Latino residence of San Diego, the findings suggest that community transportation options may be available but may be underutilized for a variety of reasons. While concerns about cost and availability of transportation are noted, strategies to reduce the stigma associated with mental health also need to be addressed.

#132 Goodwin JS, Hunt WC, Samet JM (1993). Determinants of cancer therapy in elderly patients.

This study examined factors associated with non-receipt of definitive treatment among persons diagnosed with breast, prostate, or colorectal cancer based on data from a tumor registry on persons age 65+ in six New Mexico counties (n=669). Definitive therapies were identified for each cancer site, stage and treatment and individuals were categorized as having received or not received the definitive treatment. Bivariate and multivariate analyses were conducted examining the factors associated with receiving less than definitive treatment. Limited access to transportation was included as one of the independent predictors and was defined as not driving a car and not living with someone who drove a car. Findings revealed that those with limited transportation access were three times as likely of not receiving definitive treatment. Controlling for physical activity, income, activities of daily living and support, those who did not drive or live with a driver were four times more likely of not receiving definitive therapy. However, transportation differences were no longer significant once age was included into the analyses. What was interesting in this study was that limited access to transportation appeared to be a significant influence on not receiving follow-up radiation therapy but not surgery. The authors cited a reference reporting that one-third of older adults diagnosed with cancer in New Mexico depend on others for transportation and this need increases with age (Goodwin, Hunt & Samet, (1991 Archives of Internal Medicine). Again, these findings suggest that the need for nonemergency medical transportation may depend on not only the diagnosis but also the type of follow-up medical treatment (follow-up, surgery). No justification or rationale is provided for this.

135 Gwira JA, Vistamehr S, Shelsta H, et al. (2006). Factors associated with failure to follow up after glaucoma screening: A study in an African American population.

This study was based on a retrospective survey of African Americans age 40+ in New Haven, CT (n=273) on factors associated with not seeking care following glaucoma screening. Responding to a glaucoma screening advertisement through local media and flyers participants receiving glaucoma screening were monitored to determine who complied and who failed to seek recommended follow-up medical care. Those who completed both phases were considered compliant even if a reminder was required. The findings revealed that participants without access to a car had 2.0 times the odds of being non-compliant compared to those with car access. Similar to other studies, the significant association between not having access to a car and non-compliance is independent of income level, education and living arrangement suggesting that lack



of transportation rather than socio economic status is the reason for underutilization. These findings, in combination with findings from other studies, suggest that a lack of access to transportation is critical in preventive services for older adults.

#142 lezzoni LI, Davis RB, Soukup J, O'Day B (2002). Satisfaction with quality access to health care among people with disabling conditions.

This study used data from the Medicare Current Beneficiaries Survey 1996 which included community dwelling beneficiaries of all ages (n=16,403). While this study focused on factors associated with satisfaction with access to health care services, transportation barriers are not explicitly evaluated. It was found that participants with moderate or major disabling conditions report increased dissatisfaction with access. Older adults with disabilities in vision, hearing, walking, reaching overhead, and grasping all reported significantly more dissatisfaction with ease and convenience of getting to the doctor. No significant differences were found for rural/urban location after adjusted for age, sex, race, ethnicity, education, income, usual source of care, proxy respondent, and managed care. Findings point to a general greater difficulty in ease and convenience of getting to the doctor among elderly with functional and sensory deficits.

#197 Nickasch B, Marnocha SK (2009). Healthcare experiences of the homeless.

One of the most disadvantaged populations for access to non-emergency medical care is homeless or near homeless older adults. This qualitative study examined the lack of resources and availability of healthcare among homeless older adults. Open-ended interviews with 15 homeless persons in Wisconsin were conducted focusing on their health care experiences. While the study is limited in specific details concerning transportation, the authors provided critical comment to transportation and diabetes. Within the theme of lack of available resources, inadequate transportation to health care services for persons with uncontrolled diabetes was an identified barrier. The authors conclude that the lack of a permanent address or a telephone number makes scheduling a doctor's appointment and use of community resources more difficult. The authors also note that almost no literature has focused on transportation to health care among homeless older adults. Research should be directed to determine if and how non-emergency medical transportation can address this unmet need.

#259 Yeatts DE, Crow T, Folts E. (1992). Service use among low-income minority elderly: Strategies for overcoming barriers.

Unlike missed appointments where the rider has missed a specific pre-arranged ride, underutilization may include factors that preclude older adults from non-emergency medical transportation use even when they are eligible and in need. A major barrier associated with use is negative attitudes toward receiving help. Very little is known as to why eligible older adults do not use medical transportation services, however, cultural factors associated to negative attitudes toward receiving help may be a significant barrier (see #139). This study reported findings from a survey of 28 Area Agency on Aging (AAA) directors on best practices for facilitating service use among older minority populations. The study focused on services in fixed locations and



did not examine transportation services. However, several findings may of use in understanding cultural barriers to use of non-emergency medical transportation. Negative attitudes toward receiving help may be relevant to nonuse. The authors suggest a need to address this issue in the context of minority elderly underutilization of specific types of health care.

#214 Ritter B, Kirk AB (1995). Health care and public transportation use by poor and frail elderly people

This study focuses on access to and fear of use of public transportation among 1083 low-income elderly attending daytime meal programs in communities from three metropolitan counties in Florida. Participants completed a survey on a broad array of topics including socio-demographic characteristics (age, gender, health, and income), social and health service, social support quality of life, and adequacy of housing and use of health care services. In analyses pertaining to transportation, it was reported that most elderly depended primarily on public transportation and 6.1% reported a lack of transportation as a reason for not receiving medical care in the past six months. Other major reasons for underutilization of health care services include inadequate funds/co-pay costs (14%) inability to find a physician (5.5%) and excessive wait time in medical office (8.1%). Two multivariate analyses were conducted to examine the relative contributions of all variables, including availability of transportation, in predicting use of emergency medical care and ongoing medical care. In both analyses, a lack of available transportation was significantly associated with underutilization of emergency medical care and in obtaining ongoing medical care. While the consequences of under use on medical care due to transportation were not directly addressed, these findings suggest the need for additional attention to transportation. In this case, public transportation was available but for various reasons, was considered not acceptable.

Costs

#15 Rust G, Ye J, Baltrus P, Daniels E, Adesunlove B, Fryer GE (2008). Practical barriers to timely primary care access: Impact on adult use of emergency department services.

This study examines the association between barriers to timely use of primary care and use of emergency department services based on data for the National Health Interview Survey. Controlling for sociodemographic characteristics (age, gender, race, education, income and barriers to timely primary care use) it was found that persons reporting a lack of transportation as a barrier to timely access to medical care were almost twice as likely (OR=1.88) to use emergency department care compared to those who did not report a transportation barrier. Lack of transportation as a barrier contributing to increased ED use was greater than all other barriers examined including; couldn't get through on the phone, could not get appointment soon enough, wait too long in doctor office, and not open when you could go. While this study does not focus exclusively on older adults, it is one of the few studies that document the "cost" consequence of transportation in terms of use of more costly emergence department care.



#40 Xu KT, Smith RS, Borders TF (2003) Access to prescription drugs among non-institutionalized elderly people in West Texas.

This study examines the factors associated with access to pharmaceutical services based on a random telephone survey of 3498 elderly in West Texas. Respondents were asked about access to pharmaceutical services at four level; 1) if they were currently taking prescription drugs, 2) perceived difficulty in obtaining prescriptions drugs, 3) have insurance to adequately cover prescription drugs and, 4) whether they had a usual pharmacy. The majority (80%) of elderly currently taking prescription medications had no difficulty obtaining them. Concern about transportation costs and travel distance to pharmaceutical services were reported almost half (45%) expressing a concern about transportation and 28% reporting a concern about travel distance. In multivariate analysis controlling for predisposing, enabling and need factors, concern with transportation costs was not significantly related to problems obtaining prescriptions. However, concern about travel distance was associated with difficulties obtaining prescriptions. This suggests that transportation costs and transportation distance are not one in the same in terms of predicting access difficulties and that concerns with transportation may be dependent on and demographic and resource characteristics.

#149 Katon W, Unutzer L, Williams JW, Schoenbaum M, Lin EHB, Hunkeler EM, Cost effectiveness and net benefit of enhanced treatment of depression for older adults with diabetes and depression.

This randomized controlled trial examined the impact of a comprehensive enhanced multifaceted depression treatment program for older adults with clinical depression. The program, titled the Improvement Mood-Promoting Access Collaborative trial (IMPACT), included a coordinated multicomponent strategy to address depression consisting of behavioral interventions, psychotherapy and weekly supervision by a psychiatrist and primary care physician and compared outcomes to participants in a usual care control group. Besides assessing changes in depressive symptomology and depression, outcomes included functional status and cost effectiveness. It was not clear if transportation was provided as a component of the intervention. However, it was suggested the cost and cost effectiveness found in the intervention group may be partially be due to lower number of medical visits. This study suggest that interventions pertaining to cost of non-emergency medical transportation can be viewed in terms of cost savings as a result of reduced need for transportation as well as cost saved by providing needed transportation.

Rural Transportation, Rural/Urban Contrasts

#30 Goings TR, Williams KA, Carter MW, Spencer M, Solovieva T, (2005). Perceived barriers to health care access among rural older adults: A qualitative study.

In this study a series of thirteen focus groups were conducted with rural West Virginia residents about their perceptions of barriers when assessing needed health care. The researchers identified five content areas or themes within the focus group transcripts; transportation difficulties, limited health care supply,



lack of quality health care, social isolation and financial constraints. This study provides additional detail concerning the context of transportation difficulties. Specifically, older participants reported on the difficulty of being required to travel to urban areas for health care especially specialty care (e.g. cancer treatment). They also raised concerns with medical transportation being able to reach them at their home due to unmarked roads and extreme weather conditions such as heavy snow. This study is one of the few that specifically identify the limitation of medical transportation programs with 6% of the 101 participants reporting such problems. This study suggests a need to better understand regional differences in rural medical transportation barriers. While most studies have concluded that older adults in rural areas have greater need for non-emergency medical transportation than urban areas, the specific transportation barriers are likely to differ from one rural setting to another.

#34 Fitzpatrick AL, Powe NR, Cooper LS, Ives DG, Roseman (2004). Barriers to health care access among the elderly and who perceives them.

In one of the largest surveys of older adults perceptions of barriers to health care services, Fitzpatrick and colleagues (2004) examined perceived access to health care among Medicare beneficiaries in the Cardiovascular Health Study. A total of 4889 older adults participated in the survey which asked where they received their medical care, how easy is it to be seen by a doctor and what the major barriers to receiving such care. The focus of the study was to better understand what sociodemographic factors are associated with access to care. A subset (12.2%, n=592) of respondents reported at least one barrier that affected their ability to see a doctor (defined in terms of either moderate amount, very much, or a whole lot). The nine barriers listed in the survey included transportation difficulty, doctor not responsive to concern, medical bills, fear and safety on streets, fear of discovery of serious illness, fear of unneeded tests, not having a regular doctor, taking care of others, and work responsibilities. The three most frequent barriers reported were doctor not responsive to concerns (32.9%), medical bills (22.3%) and transportation problems (22.3%). Minority older adults were significantly more likely to report transportation problems than white older adults. These findings are compatible with other surveys showing that a significant proportion of older adults report transportation difficulties as a barrier to health care.

#50 Reif SS, DesHarnais S, Bernard S (1999). Community perceptions of the effects of rural hospital closure on access to care.

This case study on the consequences of hospital closures in rural settings provided a perspective of how such closures may increase the need for non-emergency medical transportation among vulnerable older adults. This study conducted interviews with health professionals from rural areas which had hospital closure with matched comparison areas where hospitals remained open. Health professionals from both areas were interviewed about changes in physician services in their areas and the impact on vulnerable older and disabled populations in the area. Compared to health professionals in rural settings with continued hospital services, health care professionals from hospital closure areas reported greater difficulty recruiting and retaining physicians as a result of the closure and an increased in the distance and travel time to the nearest hospital (and other health care services). The impact of rural hospital closures decreases when the hospital



is converted to a health clinic. The significance of this case history study is that it suggests that demand for medical transportation services is influenced not only by the increased prevalence of older individuals in rural areas but also the closure of critical health care facilities such as hospitals.

#51. Alexy BB, Elnitsky C (1998). Rural mobile health unit: Outcomes.

An alternative to providing older adults transportation to needed health services is to bring the needed services to their homes. Findings are reported on a program in which a rural mobile health unit was provided as an alternative model of healthcare delivery in rural areas with limited resources and health care providers. The mobile health unit project was rolled out in two rural counties with a total of 47,000 residents. There were 190 project participants that used the health unit and 32 participated in the home visit component. Development of the mobile unit had a significant impact on use of health care services, including increased breast and cervical screenings, increased immunizations, and decreased utilization of the emergency room. An advantage of such a program is that providing health care services in the home provides an opportunity to observe the older patient's functional independence and ability to maintain their health resulting in opportunities to arrange for needed community based services and assistance.

#90 Bellamy GR, Stone K, Richardson SK, Goldsteen RL (2003). Getting from here to there: Evaluating West Virginia's rural nonemergency medical transportation program.

Bellamy and colleagues examined reach, satisfaction and costs associated with provision of nonemergency medical transportation to rural West Virginia older adults. This program, called the Transportation for Health Project, was designed to assist persons who struggle with access to health care due transportation difficulties. The authors report regional statistics that only 3 percent of the rural population reported depending on commercial transportation service provider, (e.g., taxi or bus) but the need for alternative transportation was greatest for rural older adults with over 40% reporting being dependent on others for transportation. The intended target audience for this program was persons who could drive but had an unreliable vehicle or disabling condition that made driving difficult, persons who had informal transportation, or persons with no form of transportation. The key questions addressed in the evaluation include; did the program reach the intended population, were the users satisfied with the service, and was the program sustainable? A general population survey was conducted to describe the target population, measure awareness of services, and satisfaction. Based on demographic characteristics of the riders (age 65+, female, Medicaid/Medicare recipient), it was concluded that program was successful in reaching its intended audience. Respondents were satisfied with the service they were receiving. Over 90% of the 203 transportation users surveyed reported being satisfied with scheduling arrangements, courtesy and promptness of drivers and the overall service. However, in terms of maintenance of the transportation program, only one of the three bus/van providers approached a financial break-even on cost. In order for a program like this to be sustainable there would need to be increased revenue, possibly from increased Medicaid ridership.



#115 Collins B, Borders TF, Tebrink K, Xu KT (2007) Utilization of prescription medications and ancillary pharmacy services among rural elderly in west Texas: Distance barriers and implications for telepharmacy

This study examined whether distance to pharmacies reduces access to prescription medication and other prevention services such as immunizations and blood pressure and glucose monitoring among older patients. Another component if this study was to determine whether the decision to provide ancillary pharmacy services (telepharmacy) no closer than 10 miles of existing pharmacies was appropriate as measured by reduced rates of taking prescription medications. The key finding pertaining to transportation was that significant reductions in use of prescription drugs was not observed until the person was greater than 30 miles from a traditional pharmacy. That is, those living 31 miles or further from a traditional pharmacy had a significantly lower frequency of prescription drug use. The findings remained significant controlling for socio-demographic characteristics such as age gender, race, household income and insurance. The researchers conclude that rural elderly who are at a considerable distance from pharmacy services, are at greater risk for decreased access to prescription medications and this risk may be due to an inability for them to travel long distances.

#223 Sharkey JR, Horel S, Han D, Huber JC Jr. (2009). Association between neighborhood need and spatial access to food stores and fast food restaurants in neighborhoods of Colonias

Sharkey and colleagues (2009) provide findings demonstrating the complex interaction between the lack of transportation and community environmental resources on risk for poor nutrition. Three counties in rural Texas, identified as being high in resource needs, were examined with respect to the location of food accessibility. Location points were mapped for food availability in terms of traditional food stores (supercenters, supermarkets, and grocery stores), convenience food stores, and non-traditional food stores (mass merchandisers). Using Census data, the number of each type of food stores were categorized by distance (within one mile, and 3 and 5 miles from household). Neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and percentage of occupied households without an available vehicle was also examined. Food environments were poorest in rural settings with the highest socioeconomic deprivation. That is, access and availability of health food options were lowest in neighborhoods with the highest levels of socioeconomic deprivation. A lack of household vehicle availability (transportation) was also highest in these settings. While this study did not focusing exclusively on older adults, the findings suggest that poor nutrition and food insecurity are greatest in such rural settings and that there is a significant need for transportation services to help these communities gain access to healthy nutrition options.

Mental Health/Mental Illness

#5 Solway E, Estes CL, Goldberg S, Berry J (2010) Access barriers to mental health services for older adults from diverse populations: Perspectives of leaders in mental health and aging.

Solway and colleagues examine access barriers to mental health services based on key informant interviews with 52 local, state and national professionals in aging services and mental health. The objectives of the



study was to identify the state of readiness of communities to provide mental health services to older adults and to access barriers to these services for demographically diverse older adults. Interviews were conducted with key informants in selected counties in Florida and California. Respondents were in general agreement across the two states in concluding that there is a lack of readiness to address the mental health needs of older adults. Several barriers were identified including, lack of awareness of mental health services, perception that mental health services as being unaffordable, fear of stigma associated with mental illness, and transportation problems, especially in rural areas. The authors also note that access barriers to mental health services differ among different socio-demographic groups of older adults (e.g., race, gender, immigration status, geographic location and age). These findings suggest that while transportation is reported as an access barrier to mental health services, a lack of transportation is only one component of a larger set of access concerns that need to be addressed in order to improve use of mental health services.

#19 Palinkas LA, Criado V, Fuentes D, Shepherd S, et al. (2007). Unmet needs for services for older adults with mental illness: Comparison of views of different stakeholder groups.

The need for transportation for mental health services for older adults in San Diego was the focus of this qualitative study of stakeholders. Using semi-structured interviews and focus groups, health providers, caregivers, and older adults with mental illness were interviewed about their experiences with the mental health system and services, the unmet needs for such services, and the barriers associated with unmet need. Domains of unmet need were identified and the frequency of specific unmet needs raised in each domain was reported. Transportation was organized into two domains; mental health service access and social services. A consistently high proportion (66%) of providers, caregivers and older patients (consumers) citing unmet transportation needs which contributed to reduced engagement in mental health services. The authors conclude that a lack of available, appropriate, and affordable services are particularly difficult for older adults with physical disability, those in rural areas, Latino older adults and those without Medicare and Medi-Cal benefits. These findings provide insight into the relatively higher rate of missed appointments among non-emergency medical transportation services among riders for mental health care services.

#33 Lachenmayr S, Mackenzie G. (2004). Building a foundation for systems change: Increasing access to physical activity programs for older adults.

This study addresses the lack of available transportation for older adults to attend community based exercise programs. A survey of providers in agencies that typically offer exercise health promotion to older adults were surveyed on the types of activity programs offered, capacity to provide such programs, and to identify unmet demands and barriers associated with unmet need. The survey was conducted with agency stakeholders from all counties in New Jersey (e.g., Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs), hospitals, health departments, senior centers). A total of 82% of the 160 surveys received expressed a desire to provide additional exercise programs for their older clients/patients. Over half (57%) identified barriers to meeting the unmet need including lack of trained peer leaders (42%), insufficient funding (32%) inadequate facility space (28%) and inadequate transportation (3%). This study is one of several that identify insufficient transportation as a barrier to providing older adults the means to initiate and maintain healthy lifestyle



behaviors. While not stated in the study, older adults with difficulties with poor transportation options are more likely to reside in neighborhoods with barriers restricting walking for leisure.

#65 Gurian, B transportation as outreach, driver as mental health worker

Gurian (1992) described a pilot transportation program for older adults that trained the driver as a mental health resource for the older passenger. A case study was presented in which an Area Agency on Aging and a private nonprofit mental health service vender collaborated in developing a 3-day training program for volunteer drivers willing to participate. The training helped drivers to identify older riders with significant mental health problems and to make refer riders who may be in need of physical and/or mental health services. Besides training on psychological issues, six drivers were trained on addressing possible emergency situations such as falls during transportation, sudden chest pains, alcoholism and CPR. Out of 10,000 round trips provided to 150 riders, assistance with mental health needs and physical limitations was provided by these trained drivers.. The author provided two case studies describing the positive impact of the interaction between drivers and the older passengers. This program and training could be used as a model to promote mental health, advocacy, information, and referrals.

#130 Goings RT, Hayes JC, Landerman LR, Hobbs G (2001).

Goings and colleagues examined the health impact of transportation services among older adults over time. Based on the Established Populations for Epidemiologic Studies of the Elderly (EPESE), changes in self ratings of health among older adults were examined over a four year period. A logistic regression that included socio demographic characteristics (e.g. age, gender, race, education), health status (e.g. activities of daily living (ADLs/IADLs), number of chronic conditions, symptoms of depression) health practices (i.e., BMI, alcohol and tobacco use), and barriers to health care (e.g., cost, transportation, unsure where to go) was used to predict changes in the number of persons in excellent/good health to fair/poor self-ratings of health (SRH). Only 5% of the 2982 older participants moved from excellent/good health to fair/poor SRH over three years. Living a considerable distance from health care providers and transportation problems were offered by 268 older adults as reasons for not getting needed health care. However, transportation was not significantly associated with change in self-rating of health. While self-rating of health is a common outcome measure in aging and health research, it may not be appropriate as a measure of health impact of transportation. More proximal outcome to transportation may be more appropriate.

#136 Hanson D, Emlet CA (2006). Assessing a community's elder friendliness: A case example of AdvantAge initiative.

A limiting factor in understanding the association between transportation and health among older adults is the lack of a comprehensive model based on a broad ecological perspective. Hanson and Emlet (2006) provide the AdvantAge Initiative model that identifies four domains of community characteristics that promote the health and well-being of older adults. The four domains that contribute to an elder friendly community are ones that; 1. address basic needs of the older residents 2. promote social and civic



engagement, 3. optimize physical and mental health and well-being and, 4. maximize independence for the frail and disabled. It is in the last domain, maximize independence for frail and disabled, that accessible transportation is identified. The authors state that transportation is essential for successful aging because it enables seniors to be mobile and engage in community activities and resources. While this model has not been widely adopted or applied to transportation, it has the potential to address the role of transportation and health in the context of the availability of other resources contributing to the health of older adults.

#203 Pang KYC, (1996). Self-efficacy strategy of elderly Korean immigrants in the Washington DC metropolitan area.

This qualitative study explored self-care strategies of older Korean immigrants in the greater Washington DC area by providing five case studies that examined self-care and coping strategies among older Koreans with depression. One source of stress noted among caregivers was associated with the burden of family members taking time off from work in order to provide transportation to older relatives. This is one of many studies that identified the stress experienced by the older relative as a result of needing to depend on their children for transportation. Even if they don't need a car for employment, one older Korean immigrant learned how to drive at age 77 to be independent. This qualitative study was in agreement with other studies stressing the importance of transportation as a means of improving mental health through social contact.

Health Behaviors

#10 Shores KA, West ST, Theriault DS, Davidson EA. (2009). Extra-individual correlates of physical activity attainment in rural older adults.

In one of the better designed surveys that address the role of transportation on health behaviors, Shores and colleagues examined the association between transportation access and level of physical activity among rural older adults in North Carolina. A representative sample of 447 adults age 65 years and older were surveyed on their current level of physical activity, socio-demographic characteristics, support for physical activity and three measures of access; living within walking distance to a park, inability to participate in physical activity due to a lack of transportation and, recreational facilities available near home. Findings revealed that older rural adults surveyed generally agreed that they had adequate transportation to reach recreation facilities. No significant differences in access to transportation were found between older adults who meet or exceed current recommendations of physical activity and those who don't. These findings suggest that proximity to recreation facilities is critical to being physically active among rural older adults and transportation is not a significant factor in being physically active.

#160 Lee C Moudon A (1998). Physical activity and environment research in the health field: Implications for urban and transportation planning practice and research.

In a review of the literature, Lee and Moudon identify a lack of transportation as a barrier to physical



activity. They cite a focus group study by Eyler (1998) who reported that older minority Americans felt that transportation would help levels of physical activity. The review concludes that transportation can promote health in older adults by providing transportation to environments and settings more accommodating to walking and physical activity. Unfortunately this review did not provide sufficient support for this conclusion.

#141 Hubbell AP (2009). Mexican American women in a rural area and barriers to their ability to enact protective behaviors against breast cancer.

A qualitative study was conducted with Mexican American women in rural New Mexico to determine barriers, perceptions and beliefs related to breast cancer protective behaviors including self-examination, physician exam, and mammography. Although this study was not restricted to older adults, 16 of the 48 participants were age 40 and older. The interview focused primarily on typical person-level beliefs such as perceived threat and seriousness of breast cancer. However, one finding pertaining to transportation was reported. It was found that the second most frequent reason given for not receiving a mammography was the long distance to get to the physician/clinic. The author described this as a problem in access to transportation for critical care services which are often considerable distance in more urban areas

#178 Marchall, Lopez, Shetterly, Morgenstein, Baer, Swenson, Baron, Baxter, Hamman, (1999).Indicators of nutritional risk in rural elderly Hispanic and non-hispanic white population: San Luis Valley health and aging study.

This study examined nutrition risk among Hispanic and non-Hispanic White older adults in rural Colorado. While it did not directly address or link transportation to poor nutrition among older adults, the authors did discuss a potential link. In the discussion section, they note that older adults with transportation difficulties are less able to shop at the largest supermarkets in urban areas which frequently have the best selection of and prices for fruits and vegetables. Instead they rely on small convenience and grocery stores with limited selection. They also state that older adults who live in remote areas may not have access to nutrition services such as meals on wheels or transportation to a senior meal or an adult day center.

#253 Wolf WS, Fronillo EA, Valois P (2003). Understanding the experience of food insecurity by elders suggest ways to improve its measurement

The objective of this study was to develop and evaluate a new measurement tool for food insecurity for older adults that is sensitive to the broader experiences older adults leading to food insecurity. Older participants from 46 elderly households in three cities in New York were selected for in-depth semi-structured interviews on what they usually ate, their eating environment, influences on their food situation and their experiences of difficulty getting food. Through a process of item development and evaluation of the tool, transportation was noted as one of the causes of food insecurity in elders. While it is not surprising that a lack of money was a major cause of food insecurity, older adults with enough money for food but were not able to get food due to a lack of transportation also are at risk for food insecurity. The importance of this finding is that adequate financial resources for food does not necessarily mean that transportation needs are no longer a concern



for older adults. Programs that provide transportation only for those with significant financial need may conclude inappropriately that those with without financial need are not at risk for food insecurity.

Ethnicity/Race Differences

#4 Park NS, Roff LL, Sun F, Park MW, Kim DL, Sawyer P Allman RM (2010). Transportation difficulty on black and white older adults.

This recent study examined race difference in transportation difficulties among Black and White older adults in rural Alabama (Park, Roff, Sun, Parker et al, 2010). The study was designed to determine if race differences in self-reports of transportation difficulty exist and if so, what factors account for differences found. A telephone survey of 255 Black and 259 White older adults was conducted. Survey items were based on the Andersen health behavior model (Andersen, 1995) including predisposing factors (e.g., demographic characteristics), enabling factors (e.g., marital status, income, social support) and need factors self-reported health, co-morbidity, cognitive impairment (MMSE), and depression. Transportation difficulty was defined as stating yes to having any difficulty getting transportation to where they wanted to go or had to limit their activities due to not having transportation. Black older adults were more than twice as likely as White elderly to report transportation difficulty (24.7% vs. 11.6%). However, race differences were no longer significant when age, gender, and income were taken into account. When analyses for Black and Whites are conducted separately, poor cognitive status and greater levels of symptoms of depression among Blacks were significant while only a lack of social support was associated with transportation difficulty among White rural elderly. While these associations are not causal, the findings suggest that there may be ethnic differences on the health impact of transportation difficulties.

#9 Rodriguez-Galan MB, Falcon LM (2009). Perceived problems with access to medical care and depression among older Puerto Ricans, Dominicans, and a comparison group of non-Hispanic whites

This study examined the association between self-reported symptoms of depression (CES-D) and perceived problems in access to medical care among Puerto Rican, Dominican, other Hispanic and non-Hispanic White older adults based on data from the Massachusetts Hispanic Elders Study (MAHES). A primary hypothesis was that problems related to medical care access would be associated with higher levels of depressive symptomalogy among older Puerto Ricans Analyses compared Hispanic older adults to non-Hispanic White older adults in the same neighborhood. Respondents were asked to select from a checklist of common assess problems that included transportation problems (e.g., cost, inconvenient office hours, did not speak Spanish, did not have a way to get there). Compared to non-Hispanic White older adults, a greater percentage of Hispanics reported significantly more access problems (9% versus 22%). Access problems due to lack of transportation was the most common barrier reported by the Hispanic group, especially Puerto Rican elders. While this study found that medical care assesses problems was correlated with greater depression among older adults, access problems due to transportation were embedded in a combined scale with other access concerns, thereby making it difficult to directly link depression to transportation problems. This study is significant at several levels. It provided important insight into the heterogeneity of



transportation concerns within ethnic groups. It also examined the impact of access barriers to health care in the context of symptoms of depression.

#86 Aroian LJ, Wu B, Tran TV (2005) Health care and social service use among Chinese immigrant Elders

The complex role of transportation in underutilization of health and social services is illustrated in this qualitative study. The authors conduct a series of focus groups and interviews designed to examine patterns and reasons for health and social service use among older Chinese elders in Boston. A group of 27 Chinese immigrant elders, 11 of their adult children and 12 health and social service providers participated in in an in-depth discussion of factors associated with use of traditional and Westerns health services and social services and causes for underutilization. Perceptions were similar across the three groups. In general, transportation difficulties were cited for all three services. However, transportation was not an issue among Chinese immigrants living in Chinatown. This suggests that the association between access and use of transportation may be dependent on language and cultural factors. Boston is a transportation rich environment, use of public and alternative transportation was difficult because of language barriers. However, navigating the transportation options becomes difficult in settings without a shared language or culture. "If I take transportation by myself, I am afraid I will get lost and not know how to return back home" (p 100). As in other studies, this study identified the burden of family providing transportation to their older relative in terms of sick/vacation days with their employment.

#229. Smith C, Morton LW, (2009). Rural food deserts: Low-income perspectives on food access in Minnesota and Iowa

This study was primarily a qualitative analysis of 57 residents living in Minnesota and Iowa.to investigate how low income persons living in food deserts accessed the traditional food system, as well as food safety net services. Findings from the 7 focus groups conducted revealed that there were three major themes; personal and household determinants of food; social and cultural environment; and structure of place or the external environment. It was concluded that physical and social environments place constraints on food access, even in civically engaged communities. A subtheme of transportation issues was identified within the theme of structure of place. Specifically, it was noted that residents in rural settings reported transportation barriers due to the cost of traveling to more urban areas with better food choices and lower cost for food. While less than 7% of the participants in the focus were age 65 years and older, it is likely that this finding would be applicative to older adults in general.

Other Related Transportation

#84 Applebaum R, Regan S, Woodruff L (1993). Assuring the quality of in-home supportive services: An evolving challenge.

Unreliable transportation resources for health care workers can also have an impact on the health of older adults. In a review article identifying critical issues in assuring the quality of home care services, Applebaum,



Regan and Woodruff (1993) reported findings from a telephone satisfaction survey by consumers of home care services. About one fifth reported that home care workers did not arrive on time and 17% were not informed when the worker was unable to arrive at all (Applebaum, Regan, Woodruff, 1993). Such health care worker "missed appointments" has not been adequately examined but they may have significant consequences on quality of care and the health and well-being of the older clients.

Non Relevant

#8 Ward (2009). Disaggregating race and ethnicity: Toward a better understanding of the social impacts of transportation decisions. Nor relevant While this paper report findings that 10.3% of US residents lack of available transportation (no vehicle available), no analyses were conducted by age-group.

#31 Anderson, Koler, Letiecq (2005)Not relevant outcomes of transportation not addresses

#36 Bartels, Coakley et al (2004) Transportation not examined.

#60 Costanza, 1994 No substantive information.

#85 AreanMackin, Vargas-Dwyer, Raue, Sirey, Kanellopolos, Alexopoulos (2010) No substantive information

#91 Bismark, Brennan Paterson et al. (2006) New Zealand study on complaints in emergency transport.

#93 Bloomfield, Kimaiyo, Carter et al. (2011) Study based in Africa.

#95 Bowen, Gonzales, (2008) Transportation not examined as a factor contributing to ethnic differences on use of health care services.

#103 Burr, Mutchler, (2007) Population county size was used as a proxy for unmeasured community characteristics such as tax burden, transportation constraints and crime. As such, it cannot be used as a link between transportation and health.

106 Callahan CM, Kroenke K, Counsell SR, Hugh C, et al. (2005) Transportation not addressed

#127 Finlayson, Garcia & Cho, (2008). The authors found that, compared to small town rural settings, persons un urban-suburban settings were more likely to use occupational therapy services. They conclude that a lack of transportation was a cause of this difference. The study did not provide empirical support for this conclusion.

#128 Freburger and Holmes, (2005) This study examine factors associated with used of physical therapy use among older adults. A proxy measure of transportation (ease and convenience of getting to a doctor from where you live) was included in the study design but was combined into a larger overall health care



satisfaction measure thereby eliminating any conclusions about transportation.

#129 Gary, Safford, Gerzoff, et al. (2008) This study examined perceptions of neighborhood problems on health practices and diabetes outcomes among persons with diabetes. One question asked how much of a problem is access to public transportation in your neighborhood. This question was combined with five other unrelated neighborhood problems into a summary score. All analyses were based on the summary score rather than the item on transportation.

#131 Gollop, (1997) This study's focus is on health information seeking behavior of older African women. Transportation was not addressed.

#147 Joseph, Waldman, Rawls, et al. (2008). This qualitative study examined perceptions and attitudes toward tuberculosis and seeking treatment for TB. The only information about transportation was that one individual lacked reliable transportation; "I have problems with transportation. I don't have a car, so I had to take a taxi."

#161 Lennox, Bain, Rey-Conde, et al (2007) Transportation not examined

#168 Linblad, Hanlon, Artz, Fillenbaum, McCarthy (2003) Transportation not examined

#169 Liu, Chen, Chi et al, (2010) Focus in transportation in China

173 Magilvy, Congdon, (2000). Transportation not examined

#187 McNally, (2003) Focus of document was in South Pacific (FIJI)

#192 Mollica, Doneian, Tor, et al. (1993) Study in Thailand-Cambodian border displaced persons

#201 Owsley C, McGwin G Jr, Scilley K, Meek GC, Seker D, Dyer D (2007). Study of nursing home residents and delay of medical care. Transportation was not directly assessed.

#207 Porell, Miliades, (2001) This study defined transportation as a barrier to health service utilization as having a travel time of 30-minutes or longer to one's regular provider. The researchers found that Medicare beneficiaries with a travel time greater than 30 minutes had 38% greater odds of becoming IADL disabled than those with a shorter time to their care provider. However for most individuals, travel time may not be mutable risk factor in terms of transportation service. These findings may offer insight into potential health differences between urban rural older adults.

#218 Sanders S, Polgar JM, Kloseck M, Crilly R. (2005). Homebound older individuals living in the community: A pilot study. While transportation was noted, no findings of substance was reported.



#247 Wallace, Levy-Storms, Ferguson, (1995) transportation not examined

#255 Wood (2008) This study addresses access to health care services for HIV-positive substance abusers in rural settings and comment that transportation is a barrier to such services. However, no findings were provided to support this and not for older adults.

References

- 1. Morgan, S, Morgan KO. State Rankings 2010 : A Statistical View of America Washington D.C.: CQ Press, 2010.
- 2. Gum AM, Iser L, Petkus A. Behavioral health service utilization and preferences of older adults receiving home-based aging services. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry: official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry. 2010; 18(6):491-501.
- 3. Burns KK, Gordan GL. Analyzing the impact of disability legislation in canada and the united states Journal of Disability Policy Studies. 2010; 20(4):205-218.
- 4. Park NS, Roff LL, Sun F, Park MW, Kim DL, Sawyer P, Allman RM. Transportation difficulty of black and white rural older adults Journal of Applied Gerontology. 2010; 29(1):70-88.
- 5. Solway E, Estes CL, Goldberg S, Berry J.. Access barriers to mental health services for older adults from diverse populations: Perspectives of leaders in mental health and aging. Journal of aging social policy. 2010; 22(4):360-78.
- 6. National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health.. Occupational Hazards in Home Healthcare 2010; [http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2010-125/pdfs/2010-125.pdf].
- 7. Rosenbloom S, Herbal S. The safety and mobility patterns of older women Public Works Management Policy. 2009; 13(4):338-353.
- 8. Ward BG. Disaggregating race and ethnicity Public Works Management Policy. 2009; 13(4):354-360.
- 9. Rodriguez-Galan MB, Falcon LM. Perceived problems with access to medical care and depression among older puerto ricans, dominicans, other hispanics, and a comparison group of non-hispanic whites Journal of Aging and Health. 2009; 21(3):501-518.
- 10. Shores KA, West ST, Theriault DS, Davison EA. Extra-individual correlates of physical activity attainment in rural older adults. The Journal of rural health: official journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association. 2009; 25(2):211-8.



- 11. [Anonymous]. The esplanade senior residence. Westchester County Business Journal. 2009; 48(20):557.
- 12. Dumbaugh E. Designing communities to enhance the safety and mobility of older adults Journal of Planning Literature. 2008; 23(1):17-36.
- 13. Marks B, Sisirak J, Hsieh K. Health services, health promotion, and health literacy: Report from the state of the science in aging with developmental disabilities conference. Disability and health journal. 2008; 1(3):136-42.
- 14. Oxley J, Whelan M. It cannot be all about safety: The benefits of prolonged mobility. Traffic injury prevention. 2008; 9(4):367-78.
- 15. Rust G, Ye J, Baltrus P, Daniels E, Adesunlove B, Fryer GE. Practical barriers to timely primary care access: Impact on adult use of emergency department services. Archives of internal medicine. 2008; 168(15):1705-10.
- 16. [Anonymous]. Supporting Rural Family Caregivers 2008; .
- 17. Mckenzie JF, Pinger RR, Kotecki JE. An Introduction to Community Health 6th ed. ed. Sudbury Mass.: Jones and Bartlett Publishers, 2008.
- 18. [Anonymous]. Report details americans' access to care. PT. 2008; 16(3):77.
- 19. Palinkas LA, Criado V, Fuentes D, Shepherd S, Milian H, Folsom D, Jeste DV. Unmet needs for services for older adults with mental illness: Comparison of views of different stakeholder groups. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry: official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry. 2007; 15(6):530-40.
- 20. Brennan M, Bally SJ. Psychosocial adaptations to dual sensory loss in middle and late adulthood Trends in Amplification. 2007; 11(4):281-300.
- 21. Peng Q, Wang K, Qui Y, Pu Y (Eds.). International Conference on Transportation Engineering 2007 Proceedings of the First International Conference, July 22-24, 2007, Southwest Jiaotong University, Chengdu, China 2007.
- 22. Drainoni ML, Lee-Hood E, Tobias C, Bachman SS, Andrew J, Maisels L.,. Cross-disability experiences of barriers to health-care access Journal of Disability Policy Studies. 2006; 17(2):101-115.



- 23. Schaefer K.. Market-based solutions for improving telecommunications access and choice for consumers with disabilities. Journal of Disability Policy Studies. 2006; 17(2):116-126.
- 24. Shinogle J, Wiener JM. Medication use among medicaid users of home and community-based services. Health care financing review. 2006; 28(1):103-16.
- 25. Borrell LN, Northridge ME, Miller DB, Golemveski CA, Spielman SE, Sclar ED, Lamster IB.. Oral health and health care for older adults: A spatial approach for addressing disparities and planning services. Special care in dentistry: official publication of the American Association of Hospital Dentists, the Academy of Dentistry for the Handicapped, and the American Society for Geriatric Dentistry. 2006; 26(6):252-6.
- 26. Miller J. The Savvy Senior the Ultimate Guide to Health, Family, and Finances for Senior Citizens 2005; .
- 27. Brown R, Black W. Community Partnerships for Older Adults (CPOA) Program Survey of Older Adults, 2002 [United States] 2005.
- 28. [Anonymous]. The Changing Face of Aging 2005 Joint Conference of the American Society on Aging and the National Council on the Aging. 2005; .
- 29. Whitier S, Scharlach AE, Dal Santo TS. Availability of caregiver support services: Implications for implementation of the national family caregiver support program. Journal of aging social policy. 2005; 17(1):45-62.
- 30. Goings TR, Williams KA, Carter MW, Spencer M, Solovieva T. Perceived barriers to health care access among rural older adults: A qualitative study. The Journal of rural health: official journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association. 2005; 21(3):206-13.
- 31. Anderson EA, Kohler JK, Letiecq BL. Predictors of depression among low-income, nonresidential fathers Journal of Family Issues. 2005; 26(5):547-567.
- Okoro CA, Strine TW, Young SL, Balluz LS, Mokdad AH. Access to health care among older adults and receipt of preventive services. results from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 2002. Preventive medicine. 2005; 40(3):337-43.
- 33. Lachenmayr S, Mackenzie G. Building a foundation for systems change: Increasing access to physical activity programs for older adults. Health promotion practice. 2004; 5(4):451-8.



- 34. Fitzpatrick AL, Powe NR, Cooper LS, Ives DG, Robbins JA. Barriers to health care access among the elderly and who perceives them. American journal of public health. 2004; 94(10):1788-94.
- 35. Allman RM, Baker PS, Maisiak RM, Sims RV, Roseman JM. Racial similarities and differences in predictors of mobility change over eighteen months. Journal of general internal medicine. 2004; 19(11):1118-26.
- 36. Bartels SJ, Coakley EH, Zubritsky C, Ware JH, Miles KM, Arean PA, Chen H, Oslin DW, Llorente MD, Costantino G, Quijano L., McIntyre JS, Linkins KW, Oxman TE, Maxwell J, Levkoff SE. Improving access to geriatric mental health services: A randomized trial comparing treatment engagement with integrated versus enhanced referral care for depression, anxiety, and at-risk alcohol use. The American journal of psychiatry. 2004; 161(8):1455-62.
- 37. Guay AH. Access to dental care: Solving the problem for underserved populations. Journal of the American Dental Association (1939). 2004; 135(11):1599-605;.
- 38. GAO. Transportation-Disadvantaged Populations: Federal Agencies Are Taking Steps to Assist States and Local Agencies in Coordinating Transportation Services: GAO-04-420R. U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2004.
- 39. Finlayson M.. Providing alternative financing for assistive technology Journal of Disability Policy Studies. 2003; 14(2):109-119.
- 40. Xu KT, Smith SR, Borders TF. Access to prescription drugs among noninstitutionalized elderly people in west texas. American journal of health-system pharmacy: AJHP: official journal of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists. 2003; 60(7):675-82.
- 41. Liebig PS. Old-age homes and services: Old and new approaches to aged care. Journal of aging social policy. 2003; 15(2-3):159-78.
- 42. GAO. Transportation-disadvantaged populations: Some coordination efforts among programs providing transportation services, but obstacles persist: GAO-03-697. GAO Reports. 2003; :1.
- 43. Hofferth S, Stafford FP, Yeung WJ, Duncan GJ, Hill MS, Lepkowski J, Morgan JN. Panel Study of Income Dynamics, 1968-1999 Supplemental Files 2002; .
- 44. Hofferth S, Stafford FP, Yeung WJ, Duncan GJ, Hill MS, Lepkowski J, Morgan JN. Panel Study of Income Dynamics, 1989-1990 Latino Sample 2001; .
- 45. [Anonymous] New Aging, New Generations: Positioning Pima County in the 21st Century Tucson [Ariz.]: University of Arizona Office of Economic Development, 2001.



- 46. [Anonymous]. National Nursing Home Survey, 1999 2001;.
- 47. Ahmed SM, Lemkau JP, Nealeigh N, Mann B. Barriers to healthcare access in a non-elderly urban poor american population. Health social care in the community. 2001; 9(6):445-53.
- 48. [Anonymous]. National Nursing Home Survey, 1997 2000; .
- 49. United States Department of Health and Human Services. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Health Statistics. National Health Interview Survey on Disability, 1995 Phase II, Adult Followback ICPSR02578-v1. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor],1999; doi:10.3886/ICPSR02578.v1.
- 50. Reif SS, DesHarnais S, Bernard, S. Community perceptions of the effects of rural hospital closure on access to care. The Journal of rural health: official journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association. 1999; 15(2):202-9.
- 51. Alexy BB, Elnitsky C. Rural mobile health unit: Outcomes. Public health nursing (Boston, Mass). 1998; 15(1):3-11.
- 52. United States Department of health and Human Services. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Health Statistics. National Health Interview Survey on Disability, 1994 Phase II, Adult Followback ICPSR02568-v1. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor],1998. Doi:10.3886/ICPSR02568.v1.
- Randall T. The Outreach Sourcebook, Volume 4: Rural Health Demonstration Projects, 1994 to 1997. Full text at Web site http://ftp.hrsa.gov/ftp/ruralhealth/outreach.pdf., 1998.
- 54. Malmgren IA, Martin ML, Nicola RM. Health care access of poverty-level older adults in subsidized public housing. Public health reports (Washington, D C: 1974). 1996; 111(3):260-3.
- 55. Silverman MA, Weston M, Llorente M, Beber C, Tam R. Lessons learned from hurricane andrew: Recommendations for care of the elderly in long-term care facilities. Southern medical journal. 1995; 88(6):603-8.
- 56. Scanlon WJ. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Supportive Services Program in Senior Housing, Tenant Characteristics and Service use, 1990-1991 [United States] 1995; .
- 57. Strayer MS. Perceived barriers to oral health care among the homebound. Special care in dentistry: official publication of the American Association of Hospital Dentists, the Academy of Dentistry for the Handicapped, and the American Society for Geriatric Dentistry. 1995; 15(3):113-8.



- 58. Reisien S. Education and behavioral and social research in rheumatology. Current Opinion in Rheumatology. 1995; 7(2):97.
- 59. Blazer DG, Landerman LR, Fillenbaum G, Horner R. Health services access and use among older adults in north carolina: Urban vs rural residents. American journal of public health. 1995; 85(10):1384-90.
- 60. Costanza ME. The extent of breast cancer screening in older women. Cancer. 1994; 74(7):2046-50.
- 61. Given BA, Given CW, Harlan AN. Strategies to meet the needs of the rural poor. Seminars in oncology nursing. 1994; 10(2):114-22.
- 62. Morgan E, Sampsel DD. Diversity among seniors. A toledo, OH, hospital assesses the healthcare needs of elderly african americans and hispanics. Health progress (Saint Louis, Mo). 1994; 75(10):38-40,.
- 63. Krout J (Ed). Providing Community-Based Services to the Rural Elderly Thousand Oaks Calif.: Sage Publications, 1994.
- 64. Dolan TA, Atchison KA. Implications of access, utilization and need for oral health care by the non-institutionalized and institutionalized elderly on the dental delivery system. Journal of dental education. 1993; 57(12):876-87.
- 65. Gurian BS. Transportation as outreach, driver as mental health worker. The Gerontologist. 1992; 32(4):561-2.
- 66. Gilbert GH, Branch LG, Longmate J. Eligible veterans' choice between VA-covered and non-VA-covered dental care. Journal of public health dentistry. 1992; 52(5):277-87.
- 67. Geehr EC, Salluzzo R, Bosco S, Baaten J, Wahl T, Wallenkamp V. Emergency health impact of a severe storm. The American journal of emergency medicine. 1989; 7(6):598-604.
- 68. Dolan TA, Corey CR, Freeman HE. Older americans' access to oral health care. Journal of dental education. 1988; 52(11):637-42.
- 69. Institute for Economic and Social Measurements, Inc. Cost of Providing Transportation and in-Home Services to the Elderly, 1982-1983 1985;



- 70. Schlenger WE, Corder LS. Access to health care among aged medicare beneficiaries. National Medical Care Utilization and Expenditure Survey (Series) Series B, Descriptive report. 1984; (3):1-31.
- 71. [Anonymous]. Elderly in Rural Kentucky, 1975 1984; .
- 72. [Anonymous]. ABC News the Washington Post Poll Aging. 1982; .
- 73. Anonymous [WorldCat.org] http://www.worldcat.org/profiles/sshurtz/lists/2685761?view=&count=100>. Accessed 6/29/2011...
- 74. AOA Administration on Aging: Your Source for Information on Aging. http://www.aoa.gov.
- 75. AOA. Eldercare Locator a Way to Find Community Assistance for Seniors. http://www.aoa.gov/naic/elderloc.html
- 76. Anonymous Research Program Design---Administration of Highway and Transportation Agencies. Transportation Mobility, Access and Safety for an Aging Population http://rip.trb.org/browse/dproject.asp?n=16801>. Accessed 6/30/2011.
- 77. [Unknown]. Primary medical care for elderly patients part I and II. J Community Health. 1989; 14(2):79-99.
- 78. Abraido-Lanza AF, White K, Armbrister AN, Link BG. Health status, activity limitations, and disability in work and housework among latinos and non-latinos with arthritis: An analysis of national data. Arthritis & Rheumatism-Arthritis Care & Research. 2006; 55(3):442-450.
- 79. Agree EM, Freedman VA, Sengupta M. Factors influencing the use of mobility technology in community-based long-term care. J Aging Health. 2004; 16(2):267-307.
- 80. Allain TJ, Wilson AO, Gomo ZAR, et al. Morbidity and disability in elderly zimbabweans. Age Ageing. 1997; 26(2):115-121.
- 81. American Public Transportation Association, 1666 K Street, NW, Suite 1100, Washington, DC, 20006, USA. Public transportation: Benefits for the 21st century. 2007.20p (43 Refs.). 2007;
- 82. Andonian L, MacRae A. Well older adults within an urban context: Strategies to create and maintain social participation. British Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2011; 74(1):2-11.



- 83. Angel JL, Angel RJ, Aranda MP, Miles TP. Can the family still cope? social support and health as determinants of nursing home use in the older mexican-origin population. J Aging Health. 2004; 16(3):338-354.
- 84. Applebaum R, Regan S, Woodruff L. Assuring the quality of in-home supportive services: An evolving challenge. Home Health Care Serv Q. 1993; 14(2-3):3-18.
- 85. Arean PA, Mackin S, Vargas-Dwyer E, et al. Treating depression in disabled, low-income elderly: A conceptual model and recommendations for care. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2010; 25(8):765-769.
- 86. Aroian KJ, Wu B, Tran TV. Health care and social service use among chinese immigrant elders. Res Nurs Health. 2005; 28(2):95-105.
- 87. Ball KK. Driving in an aging society: Innovations in technology. for mobility and independence. Generations. 2006; 30(2):31-37.
- 88. Barrio C, Palinkas LA, Yamada A, et al. Unmet needs for mental health services for latino older adults: Perspectives from consumers, family members, advocates, and service providers. Community Ment Health J. 2008; 44(1):57-74.
- 89. Beatty PW, Dhont KR. Medicare health maintenance organizations and traditional coverage: Perceptions of health care among beneficiaries with disabilities. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2001; 82(8):1009-1017.
- 90. Bellamy GR, Stone K, Richardson SK, Goldsteen RL. Getting from here to there: Evaluating west virginia's rural nonemergency medical transportation program. Journal of Rural Health. 2003; 19(SUPPL):397-406.
- 91. Bismark MM, Brennan TA, Paterson RJ, Davis PB, Studdert DM. Relationship between complaints and quality of care in new zealand: A descriptive analysis of complainants and non-complainants following adverse events. Quality & Safety in Health Care. 2006; 15(1):17-22.
- 93. Bloomfield GS, Kimaiyo S, Carter EJ, et al. Chronic noncommunicable cardiovascular and pulmonary disease in sub-saharan africa: An academic model for countering the epidemic. Am Heart J. 2011; 161(5):842-847.
- 94. Bosworth HB, Butterfield MI, Stechuchak KM, Bastian LA. The relationship between self-rated health and health care service use among women veterans in a primary care clinic. Womens Health Issues. 2000; 10(5):278-285.



- 95. Bowen ME, Gonzalez HM. Racial/Ethnic differences in the relationship between the use of health care services and functional disability: The health and retirement study (1992-2004). Gerontologist. 2008; 48(5):659-667.
- 96. Boyd CM, Shadmi E, Conwell LJ, et al. A pilot test of the effect of guided care on the quality of primary care experiences for multimorbid older adults. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2008; 23(5):536-542.
- 97. Brewer CS. Health services research and the nursing workforce: Access and utilization issues. Nurs Outlook. 2005; 53(6):281-290.
- 98. Brown SL, O'Connell L. Restricted access to care: The role of race, managed care, and type of insurance. J Health Care Finance. 2004; 31(2):26-37.
- 99. Browne C, Mokuau N, Braun K. Adversity and resiliency in the lives of native hawaiian elders. Soc Work. 2009; 54(3):253.
- Broyles RW, McAuley WJ, Baird-Holmes D. Tie medically vulnerable: Their health risks, health status, and use of physician care. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 1999; 10(2):186-200.
- 101. Bull CN[. Aging in rural america. 1993; .
- Buntin MB, Colla CH, Escarce JJ. Effects of payment changes on trends in post-acute care. Health Serv Res. 2009; 44(4):1188-1210.
- 103. Burr JA, Mutchler JE. Residential independence among older persons: Community and individual factors. Population Research and Policy Review. 2007; 26(1):85-101.
- 104. Caldwell J. Health and access to health care of female family caregivers of adults with developmental disabilities. Journal of Disability Policy Studies. 2008; 19(2):68.
- 105. Caldwell J. Consumer-directed supports: Economic, health, and social outcomes for families. Ment Retard. 2006; 44(6):405-417.
- 106. Callahan CM, Kroenke K, Counsell SR, Hugh C, Hendrie MB, Perkins AJ et al..Treatment of depression improves physical functioning in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005; 53(3):367-373.
- 107. Campbell ML, Sheets D, Strong PS. Secondary health conditions among middle-aged individuals with chronic physical disabilities: Implications for unmet needs for services. Assistive Technology. 1999; 11(2):105-122.



- 108. Carrie AG, Grymonpre RE, Blandford AA. Impact of residence on prevalence and intensity of prescription drug use among older adults. Ann Pharmacother. 2006; 40(11):1932-8.
- 109. Case A, Paxson C. Children's health and social mobility. Future of Children. 2006; 16(2):151-173.
- 110. Charney DS, Reynolds CF, Lewis L, et al. Depression and bipolar support alliance consensus statement on the unmet needs in diagnosis and treatment of mood disorders in late life. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003; 60(7):664-672.
- 111. Cherry R. Who uses service directories? extending the behavioral model to information use by older people. Res Aging. 2002; 24(5):548-574.
- 112. Codony M, Alonso J, Almansa J, et al. Perceived need for mental health care and service use among adults in western europe: Results of the ESEMeD project. Psychiatric Services. 2009; 60(8):1051-1058.
- 113. Cohen-Mansfield J, Dakheel-Ali M, Frank JK. The impact of a naturally occurring retirement communities service program in maryland, USA. Health Promot Internation. 2010; 25(2):210-220.
- 114. Collings GD. Barrier free access; right or privilege. Phys Ther. 1976; 56(9):1029-1033.
- 115. Collins B, Borders TF, Tebrink K, Xu KT. Utilization of prescription medications and ancillary pharmacy services among rural elders in west texas: Distance barriers and implications for telepharmacy. J Health Hum Serv Adm. 2007; 30(1):75-97.
- 116. Cooper RA, Cooper R, Boninger M. Trends and issues in wheelchair technologies. Assist Technol. 2008; 20(2):61-72.
- 117. Copolillo A, Teitelman IL. Acquisition and integration of low vision assistive devices: Understanding the decision-making process of older adults with low vision. American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2005; 59(3):305-313.
- 118. Cunningham WE, Hays RD, Burton TM, Kington RS. Health status measurement performance and health status differences by age, ethnicity, and gender: Assessment in the medical outcomes study. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2000; 11(1):58-76.
- 119. Diefenbach GJ, Tolin DF, Gilliam CM, Meunier SA. Extending cognitive-behavioral therapy for late-life anxiety to home care program development and case examples. Behav Modif. 2008; 32(5):595-610.



- 120. Doris JM, Davis E, Du Pont C, Holdaway B. Social work in dentistry: The CARES model for improving patient retention and access to care. Dent Clin North Am. 2009; 53(3):549-559.
- Dunlop DD, Lyons JS, Manheim LM, Song J, Chang RW. Arthritis and heart disease as risk factors for major depression the role of functional limitation. Med Care. 2004; 42(6):502-511.
- Dykes D, White A,III. Getting to equal: Strategies to understand and eliminate general and orthopaedic healthcare disparities. Clin Orthop. 2009; 467(10):2598.
- 123. Egede LE, Frueh CB, Richardson LK, et al. Rationale and design: Telepsychology service delivery for depressed elderly veterans. Trials. 2009; 10:22.
- 124. Felten BS. Resilience in diverse community-dwelling women over age 85 [dissertation]. United States -- Wisconsin: The University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, 2001.
- Fillenbaum GG, Blay SL, Andreoli SB, Gastal FL. Prevalence and correlates of functional status in an older community-representative sample in brazil. J Aging Health. 2010; 22(3):362-383.
- 126. Finlayson M, Garcia JD, Cho C. Occupational therapy service use among people aging with multiple sclerosis. American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2008; 62(3):320-328.
- 127. Finlayson M, Plow M, Cho C. Use of physical therapy services among middle-aged and older adults with multiple sclerosis. Phys Ther. 2010; 90(11):1607-1618.
- 128. Freburger JK, Holmes GM. Physical therapy use by community-based older people. Phys Ther. 2005; 85(1):19-33.
- 129. Gary TL, Safford MM, Gerzoff RB, et al. Perception of neighborhood problems, health behaviors, and diabetes outcomes among adults with diabetes in managed care the translating research into action for diabetes (TRIAD) study. Diabetes Care. 2008; 31(2):273-278.
- Goins RT, Hays JC, Landerman LR, Hobbs G. Access to health care and self-rated health among community-dwelling older adults. Journal of Applied Gerontology. 2001; 20(3):307-321.
- 131. Gollop CJ. Health information-seeking behavior and older african american women. Bull Med Libr Assoc. 1997; 85(2):141-146.
- 132. Goodwin JS, Hunt WC, Samet JM. Determinants of cancer therapy in elderly patients. Cancer. 1993; 72(2):594-601.



- 133. Grana J, Stuart B. The impact of insurance on access to physician services for elderly people with arthritis. Inquiry-the Journal of Health Care Organization Provision and Financing. 1996; 33(4):326-338.
- 134. Guidry JJ, Aday LA, Zhang D, Winn RJ. Transportation as a barrier to cancer treatment. Cancer Pract. 1997; 5(6):361-366.
- 135. Gwira JA, Vistamehr S, Shelsta H, et al. Factors associated with failure to follow up after glaucoma screening: A study in an african american population. Ophthalmology. 2006; 113(8):1315-1319.
- Hanson D, Emlet CA. Assessing a community's elder friendliness: A case example of the AdvantAge initiative. Fam Community Health. 2006; 29(4).
- 137. Harper HJ. Caring counts. buckle-up and smile for life: Uncommon partners find common ground to collaborate and eliminate disparities: Part 1. Dent Assist. 2003; 72(3):8.
- Hart-Johnson TA, Green CR. Physical and psychosocial health in older women with chronic pain: Comparing clusters of clinical and nonclinical samples. Pain Medicine. 2010; 11(4):564-574.
- Hasnain R, Rana S. Unveiling muslim voices aging parents with disabilities and their adult children and family caregivers in the united states. Topics in Geriatric Rehabilitation. 2010; 26(1):46-61.
- 140. Hensley QM. Transportation: The essential link in the continuum of care. Community Transportation. 2006; (24(4) pp 17-20 (1):us.
- 141. Hubbell AP. Mexican american women in a rural area and barriers to their ability to enact protective behaviors against breast cancer. Health Commun. 2006; 20(1):35-44.
- lezzoni LI, Davis RB, Soukup J, O'Day B. Satisfaction with quality and access to health care among people with disabling conditions. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2002; 14(5):369-381.
- 143. lezzoni LI, Kilbridge K, Park ER. Physical access barriers to care for diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer among women with mobility impairments. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2010; 37(6):711-717.
- 144. Islam R, Ahamed SI, Talukder N, Obermiller I. Usability of mobile computing technologies to assist cancer patients. Hci and Usability for Medicine and Health Care, Proceedings. 2007; 4799:227-240.



- 145. Jang Y, Kim G, Chiriboga DA. Health, healthcare utilization, and satisfaction with service: Barriers and facilitators for older korean americans. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005; 53(9):1613-1617.
- 146. Jette AM, Crawford SL, Tennstedt SL. Toward understanding ethnic differences in late-life disability. Res Aging. 1996; 18(3):292-309.
- 147. Joseph HA, Waldman K, Rawls C, Wilce M, Shrestha-Kuwahara R. TB perspectives among a sample of mexicans in the united states: Results from an ethnographic study. J IMMIGRANT MINORITY HEALTH. 2008; 10(2):177-185.
- 148. Kapell D, Nightingale B, Rodriguez A, Lee JH, Zigman WB, Schupf N. Prevalence of chronic medical conditions in adults with mental retardation: Comparison with the general population. Ment Retard. 1998; 36(4):269-279.
- 149. Katon W, Unutzer J, Fan MY, et al. Cost-effectiveness and net benefit of enhanced treatment of depression for older adults with diabetes and depression. Diabetes Care. 2006; 29(2):265-270.
- 150. Kessler RC, Hurricane Katrina Community Adviso. Hurricane katrina's impact on the care of survivors with chronic medical conditions. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2007; 22(9):1225-1230.
- 151. King S, Dabelko-Schoeny H. Quite frankly, i have doubts about remaining: Aging-in-place and health care access for rural midlife and older lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. Journal of LGBT Health Research. 2009; 5(MSM in Central Asia/Eastern Europe.):ate of Pubaton: January 2009.
- 152. Kolakowsky-Hayner S, Kreutzer JS, Miner KD. Validation of the service obstacles scale for the traumatic brain injury population. NEUROREHABILITATION. 2000; 14(3):151-158.
- 153. Krahn GL, Hammond L, Turner A. A cascade of disparities: Health and health care access for people with intellectual disabilities. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2006; 12(1):70-82.
- 154. Krahn GL, Drum CE. Translating policy principles into practice to improve health care access for adults with intellectual disabilities: A research review of the past decade. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2007; 13(2):160-168.
- 155. Krout JA. Providing Community-Based Services to the Rural Elderly Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications, 1994.
- 156. Kuykendall J. Frail elderly ineligible for medicaid: How do they manage? Dissertation Abstracts International, A: The Humanities and Social Sciences. 2004; 65(1):306-A.



- Laditka SB, Laditka JN, Xirasagar S, Comman CB, Davis CB, Richter JV. Providing shelter to nursing home evacuees in disasters: Lessons from hurricane katrina. Am J Public Health. 2008; 98(7):1288-1293.
- Ladwig J. Department of transportation examinations in primary care: An intervention project. J NURSE PRACT. 2006; 2(7):434.
- 159. Leduc N, Tannenbaum TN, Bergman H, Champagne F, Clarfield AM, Kogan S. Compliance of frail elderly with health services prescribed at discharge from an acute-care geriatric ward. Med Care. 1998; 36(6):904-14.
- 160. Lee C, Moudon A. Physical activity and environment research in the health field: Implications for urban and transportation planning practice and research. Journal of Planning Literature. 2004; 19(2):147-181.
- 161. Lennox N, Bain C, Rey-Conde T, Purdie D, Bush R, Pandeya N. Effects of a comprehensive health assessment programme for australian adults with intellectual disability: A cluster randomized trial. Int J Epidemiol. 2007; 36(1):139-146.
- Leutz W, Capitman J. Met needs and unmet needs, and satisfaction among social HMO members. J Aging Soc Policy. 2007; 19(1):1-19.
- Levine DA, Kiefe CI, Howard G, Howard VJ, Williams OD, Allison JJ. Reduced medication access: A marker for vulnerability in US stroke survivors. Stroke. 2007; 38(5):1557-1564.
- Levine DA, Kiefe CI, Houston TK, Allison JJ, McCarthy EP, Ayanian JZ. Younger stroke survivors have reduced access to physician care and medications national health interview survey from years 1998 to 2002. Arch Neurol. 2007; 64(1):37-42.
- Lewis LM, Riegel BJ. Determinants of perceived health in older adults with hypertension. Heart & Lung. 2010; 39(1):41-49.
- Lin EHB, Katon W, Von Korff M, et al. Effect of improving depression care on pain and functional outcomes among older adults with arthritis A randomized controlled trial. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association. 2003; 290(18):2428-2434.
- Lin EHB, Tang L, Katon W, Hegel MT, Sullivan MD, Unutzer J. Arthritis pain and disability: Response to collaborative depression care. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2006; 28(6):482-486.
- Lindblad CI, Hanlon JT, Artz MB, Fillenbaum GG, McCarthy TC. Antidiabetic drug therapy of african-american and white community-dwelling elderly over a 10-year period. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003; 51(12):1748-1753.



- Liu J, Chen G, Chi I, et al. Regional variations in and correlates of disability-free life expectancy among older adults in china. BMC Public Health. 2010; 10:446.
- 170. Ljubicic N, Boban M, Gacina P, Adzija J, Bencekovic Z, Rajkovic A. Quality management: Patients reflections on health care at outpatient clinic of internal medicine department. Coll Antropol. 2009; 33(2):637-641.
- 171. Lowe RA, Fu R, Ong ET, et al. Community characteristics affecting emergency department use by medicaid enrollees. Med Care. 2009; 47(1):15-22.
- Lun MWA. The effects of race and gender on predicting in-home and community-based service use by older adults. Research in the Sociology of Health Care. 2004; 22:121-139.
- 173. Magilvy JK, Congdon JG. The crisis nature of health care transitions for rural older adults. Public Health Nursing. 2000; 17(5):336-345.
- Mahmood A, Chaudhury H, Kobayashi K, Valente M. The housing and community characteristics of south asian immigrant older adults in greater vancouver, british columbia: A comparision between older adults in ethno-specific seniors' housing and community-dwelling older adults. Journal of Architectural and Planning Research. 2008; 25(1):54-75.
- 175. Malilay J. Public health assessments in disaster settings: Recommendations for a multidisciplinary approach. Prehospital Disaster Med. 2000; 15(4):167-172.
- 176. Mann WC, Hurren D, Tomita M, Charvat B. Use of assistive devices for bathing by elderly who are not institutionalized. Occupational Therapy Journal of Research. 1996; 16(4):261-286.
- 177. Marks B, Sisirak J, Hsieh K. Health services, health promotion, and health literacy: Report from the state of the science in aging with developmental disabilities conference. Disability and Health Journal. 2008; 1(3):136-142.
- 178. Marshall JA, Lopez TK, Shetterly SM, et al. Indicators of nutritional risk in a rural elderly hispanic and non-hispanic white population: San luis valley health and aging study. J Am Diet Assoc. 1999; 99(3):315-322.
- 179. Marshall SC, Man-Son-Hing M, Molnar F, Wilson KG, Blair R. The acceptability to older drivers of different types of licensing restriction. Accident Analysis & Prevention. 2007; 39(4):776-793.
- 180. Martin MY, Powell MP, Peel C, Zhu S, Allman R. Leisure-time physical activity and health-care utilization in older adults. J Aging Phys Act. 2006; 14(4):392-410.



- 181. Mason G, Coates J, Millette B. Immunizations and rural health: Considerations for nurse practitioners. CLIN EXCELLENCE NURSE PRACT. 1997; 1(7):428-436.
- 182. Matson-Koffman D, Brownstein JN, Neiner JA, Greaney ML. A site-specific literature review of policy and environmental interventions that promote physical activity and nutrition for cardiovascular health: What works? Am J Health Promot. 2005; 19(3):167-193.
- 183. McCaffrey RG. Integrating haitian older adults into a senior center in florida. J Gerontol Nurs. 2007; 33(12):13-18.
- McCaffrey RG. Multicultural aging. integrating haitian older adults into a senior center in florida: Understanding cultural barriers for immigrant older adults. J Gerontol Nurs. 2007; 33(12):13-18.
- 185. McCallum CA. Access to physical therapy services among medically underserved adults: A mixed-method study. Phys Ther. 2010; 90(5):735-747.
- 186. McKenzie JF, Robert R. Pinger, Kotecki JE. An Introduction to Community Health Sudbury, Mass.: Jones and Bartlett Publishers, 2008.
- 187. McNally JW. Health, widowhood, and family support in the north and south pacific: A comparative study. J Women Aging. 2003; 15(2-3):29-47.
- 188. Mercier JM, Shelley MC. Access to health care among three cohorts of older americans residing in a rural state. Policy Studies Journal. 1997; 25(1):140-156.
- 189. Miller DK, Carter ME, Miller JP, et al. Inner-city older blacks have high levels of functional disability. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1996; 44(10):1166-1173.
- 190. Miller J. The Savvy Senior : The Ultimate Guide to Health, Family, and Finances for Senior Citizens Hyperion, .
- 191. Miner SL. The use of formal community and home-based services for the elderly among blacks and whites in the united states. 1994; .
- Mollica RF, Donelan K, Tor S, et al. The effect of trauma and confinement on functional health and mental-health status of cambodians living in thailand-cambodia border camps. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association. 1993; 270(5):581-586.
- 193. Morgan S. State Rankings 2010 Hardbound Edition CQ Press, .



- 194. Nasvadi G, Wister A. Informal social support and use of a specialized transportation system by chronically ill older adults. Environ Behav. 2006; 38(2):209-225.
- 195. Neary MA. Community services in the 1990s: Are they meeting the needs of caregivers?. J Community Health Nurs. 1993; 10(2):105-111.
- 196. Netzer JK, Coward RT, Peek CW, Henretta JC, Duncan RP, Dougherty MC. Race and residence differences in the use of formal services by older adults. Res Aging. 1997; 19(3):300-332.
- 197. Nickasch B, Marnocha SK. Healthcare experiences of the homeless. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2009; 21(1):39-46.
- 198. Nordhaus-Bike AM. Rural route delivery. Hosp Health Netw. 1998; 72(17):22, 3.
- 199. O'Brien E. Medicare and medicaid: Trends and issues affecting access to care for low-income elders and people with disabilities. Generations. 2005; 29(1):65.
- 200. Osmond DH, Vranizan K, Schillinger D, Stewart AL, Bindman AB. Measuring the need for medical care in an ethnically diverse population. Health Serv Res. 1996; 31(5):551-571.
- 201. Owsley C, McGwin G, Jr., Scilley K, Meek GC, Seker D, Dyer A. Effect of refractive error correction on health-related quality of life and depression in older nursing home residents. Arch Ophthalmol. 2007; 125(11):1471-1477.
- 202. Palmore E. Health care needs of the rural elderly. International Journal of Aging and Human Development. 1983; 18(1):39-45.
- 203. Pang KYC. Self-care strategy of elderly korean immigrants in the washington DC metropolitan area. J Cross-Gult Gerontol. 1996; 11(3):229-254.
- 204. Perkinson MA, Berg-Weger ML, Carr DB, et al. Driving and dementia of the alzheimer type: Beliefs and cessation strategies among stakeholders. Gerontologist. 2005; 45(5):676-685.
- 205. Plantinga LC, Johansen K, Crews DC, et al. Association of CKD with disability in the united states. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 2011; 57(2):212-227.
- 206. Pollak PB. Painless planning: Extending policy knowledge from the university to the community. 1998; .
- 207. Porell FW, Miltiades HB. Disability outcomes of older medicare HMO enrollees and fee-for-service medicare beneficiaries. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2001; 49(5):615-631.



- 208. Porell FW, Miltiades HB. Access to care and functional status change among aged medicare beneficiaries. Journals of Gerontology Series B-Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences. 2001; 56(2):S69-S83.
- 209. Putnam M, Tang F. Multiple sclerosis, aging and support service utilization. J Rehabil. 2007; 73(4):3-14.
- 210. Rabins PV, Black BS, Roca R, et al. Effectiveness of a nurse-based outreach program for identifying and treating psychiatric illness in the elderly. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association. 2000; 283(21):2802-2809.
- 211. Raymond J. Senior livings: Beyond the nursing home. Am Demogr. 2000; 22(11):58.
- 212. Reed SC, Andes S. Supply and segregation of nursing home beds in chicago communities. Ethn Health. 2001; 6(1):35-40.
- 213. Rice JB, Kasper JD, Pezzin LE. A comparative analysis of medicaid long-term care policies and their effects on elderly dual enrollees. Health Econ. 2009; 18(3):275-290.
- 214. Rittner B, Kirk AB. Health-care and public transportation use by poor and frail elderly people. Soc Work. 1995; 40(3):365-373.
- 215. Rosso AL, Wisdom JP, Horner-Johnson W, McGee MG, Michael YL. Aging with a disability: A systematic review of cardiovascular disease and osteoporosis among women aging with a physical disability. Maturitas. 2011; 68(1):65-72.
- 216. Rowland D, Shartzer A. America's uninsured: The statistics and back story. The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics. 2008; 36(4):618.
- 217. Saleem S. An exploratory study of clinicians' perceptions of south asian immigrants in therapy. Dissertation Abstracts International, B: Sciences and Engineering. 2010; 70(08):5183-5183.
- 218. Sanders S, Polgar JM, Kloseck M, Crilly R. Homebound older individuals living in the community: A pilot study. Physical and Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics. 2005; 23(2-3) (pp 145-160):ate of Pubaton: 2005.
- 219. Schmajuk G, Schneeweiss S, Katz JN, et al. Treatment of older adult patients diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis: Improved but not optimal. Arthritis & Rheumatism-Arthritis Care & Research. 2007; 57(6):928-934.



- 220. Schoell DM. Moving vertically: A research method, grounded in the social sciences, about the built environment's influence on social integration. Masters Abstracts International. 2009; 47(05):2428-2428.
- 221. Schootman M, Aft R, Jeffe DB. An evaluation of lower-body functional limitations among long-term survivors of 11 different types of cancers. Cancer. 2009; 115(22):5329-5338.
- 222. Schootman M, Deshpande AD, Pruitt SL, Aft R, Jeffe DB. National estimates of racial disparities in health status and behavioral risk factors among long-term cancer survivors and non-cancer controls. Cancer Causes & Control. 2010; 21(9):1387-1395.
- 223. Sharkey JR, Horel S, Han D, Huber Jr. JC. Association between neighborhood need and spatial access to food stores and fast food restaurants in neighborhoods of colonias. International Journal of Health Geographics. 2009; 8:1-17.
- 224. Shelley, Mack, II, Auh S. The Aging and Disability Resource Center in Global Perspective. 2007.
- 225. Siggerud K. Transportation-Disadvantaged Seniors: Efforts to Enhance Senior Mobility Could Benefit from Additional Guidance and Information: GAO-04-971. U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2004.
- 226. Silverman MA, Weston M, Llorente M, Beber C, Tam R. Lessons learned from hurricane-andrew recommendations for care of the elderly in long-term-care facilities. South Med J. 1995; 88(6):603-608.
- 227. Slivinske LR, Fitch VL, Wingerson NW. The effect of functional disability on service utilization: Implications for long-term care. Health Soc Work. 1998; 23(3):175-185.
- 228. Sloan FA, Conover CJ. Life transitions and health insurance coverage of the near elderly. Med Care. 1998; 36(2):110-125.
- 229. Smith C, Morton LW. Rural food deserts: Low-income perspectives on food access in minnesota and iowa. Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior. 2009; 41(3):176-187.
- 230. Smith DL. Disparities in healthcare access for older adults with disabilities. Topics in Geriatric Rehabilitation. 2008; 24(3):192-203.
- 231. Sommers E, Porter K, Parton B. Providing acupuncture to homebound patients: Theoretical and public health considerations. AM ACUPUNCTURIST. 2010; 51:20-23.



- 232. Soumerai SB, McLaughlin TJ, Gurwitz JH, et al. Timeliness and quality of care for elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction under health maintenance organization vs fee-for-service insurance. Arch Intern Med. 1999; 159(17):2013-2020.
- 233. Squires KE. Gender differences in the diagnosis and treatment of HIV. GENDER MED. 2007; 4(4):294-307.
- 234. Steel N, Clark A, Lang LA, Wallace RB, Melzer D. Racial disparities in receipt of hip and knee joint replacements are not explained by need: The health and retirement study 1998-2004. Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2008; 63(6):629-634.
- Tabler RE, Jr. The social construction of a special needs program for hurricanes. Dissertation Abstracts International, B: Sciences and Engineering. 2009; 70(02):0968-0968.
- 236. Taylor BD, Tripodes S. The effects of driving cessation on the elderly with dementia and their caregivers. Accid Anal Prev. 2001; 33(4):519-528.
- Taylor DH, Hoenig H. Access to health care services for the disabled elderly. Health Serv Res. 2006; 41(3):743-758.
- Taylor MG. Timing, accumulation, and the Black/White disability gap in later life A test of weathering. Res Aging. 2008; 30(2):226-250.
- Theodore WH, Spencer SS, Wiebe S, et al. Epilepsy in north america: A report prepared under the auspices of the global campaign against epilepsy, the international bureau for epilepsy, the international league against epilepsy, and the world health organization. Epilepsia. 2006; 47(10):1700-1722.
- Thielke SM, Fan M, Sullivan M, Unuetzer J. Pain limits the effectiveness of collaborative care for depression. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2007; 15(8):699-707.
- Thompson L. Functional changes in persons aging with spinal cord injury. Assistive Technology. 1999; 11(2):123-129.
- Tian HJ, Robinson RL, Sturm R. Labor market, financial, insurance and disability outcomes among near elderly americans with depression and pain. Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics. 2005; 8(4):219-228.
- Torrez DJ. Health and social service utilization patterns of mexican american older adults. Journal of Aging Studies. 1998; 12(1):83-99.



- 244. Turnbull MR, Kelley SDM. Long-term care in rural florida. 1988; .
- Valverde E, Del Rio C, Metsch L, et al. Characteristics of ryan white and non-ryan white funded HIV medical care facilities across four metropolitan areas: Results from the antiretroviral treatment and access studies site survey. AIDS Care. 2004; 16(7):841-850.
- Vega WA, Karno M, Alegria M, et al. Research issues for improving treatment of U.S. hispanics with persistent mental disorders. Psychiatric Services. 2007; 58(3):385.
- 247. Wallace SP, Levystorms L, Ferguson LR. Access to paid in-home assistance among disabled elderly people do latinos differ from non-latino whites. Am J Public Health. 1995; 85(7):970-975.
- 248. Ward BG. Disaggregating race and ethnicity: Toward a better understanding of the social impacts of transport decisions. Public Works Manage Policy. 2009; 13(4):354-360.
- 249. Ward MM. Health services in rheumatology. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2000; 12(2):99-103.
- 250. Weiss CO, Gonzalez HM, Kabeto MU, Langa KM. Differences in amount of informal care received by non-hispanic whites and latinos in a nationally representative sample of older americans. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005; 53(1):146-151.
- Wendel VI, Durso SC. A case study: Challenges and issues caring for the older adult across the spectrum of settings. J NURSE PRACT. 2006; 2(9):600-606.
- 252. Wilmoth JM, DeJong GF, Angel JL, Cornwell GT. Determinants of community-based and in-home elderly service utilization: Demographic, social support, and functional health explanations. 1992; .
- 253. Wolfe WS, Frongillo EA, Valois P. Understanding the experience of food insecurity by elders suggests ways to improve its measurement. J Nutr. 2003; 133(9):2762-2769.
- Wood DG. Elderly housing: Federal housing programs and supportive services: GAO-05-795T. GAO Reports. 2005; :1.
- 255. Wood SA. Health care services for HIV-positive substance abusers in a rural setting: An innovative program. Soc Work Health Care. 2008; 47(2):108-121.
- 256. Woodward A. Housing the elderly. Society. 1982; 19(2):52-57.



- 257. Wright DW, Hill TJ. Prescription for trouble: Medicare part D and patterns of computer and internet access among the elderly. J Aging Soc Policy. 2009; 21(2):172-186.
- 258. Xu KT, Smith SR, Borders TF. Access to prescription drugs among noninstitutionalized elderly people in west texas. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2003; 60(7):675-682.
- Yeatts DE, Crow T, Folts E. Service use among low-income minority elderly: Strategies for over coming barriers. Gerontologist. 1992; 32(1):24-32.
- Yee DL, Capitman JA. Health care access, health promotion, and older women of color. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 1996; 7(3):252-272.
- Young Y, Spokane LS, Shaw BA, Macera MA, Krout JA. Comparison study: The impact of on-site comprehensive service access on self-reported health and functional status of older adults. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2009; 10(3):167-173.
- Zimmer Z, Martin LG, Chang MC. Changes in functional limitation bancfd survival among older taiwanese, 1993, 1996, and 1999. Population Studies-a Journal of Demography. 2002; 56(3):265-276.
- 263. Zimmer Z, Martin LG, Lin HS. Determinants of old-age mortality in taiwan. Soc Sci Med. 2005; 60(3):457-470.

Easter Seals Project ACTION

1425 K Street, NW Suite 200 Washington, DC 20005

Phone: 202-347-3066 Toll-free: 800-659-6428 Fax: 202-737-7914 TDD: 202-347-7385

www.projectaction.org projectaction@easterseals.com

Easter Seals Project ACTION is funded through a cooperative agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration. 7/2012





